Ann. Henri Poincaré 24 (2023), 1823–1876 © 2023 The Author(s) 1424-0637/23/061823-54 published online January 7, 2023 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00023-022-01260-3

Annales Henri Poincaré



Poisson Reductions of Master Integrable Systems on Doubles of Compact Lie Groups

L. Fehér

Abstract. We consider three 'classical doubles' of any semisimple, connected and simply connected compact Lie group G: the cotangent bundle, the Heisenberg double and the internally fused quasi-Poisson double. On each double we identify a pair of 'master integrable systems' and investigate their Poisson reductions. In the simplest cotangent bundle case, the reduction is defined by taking quotient by the cotangent lift of the conjugation action of G on itself, and this naturally generalizes to the other two doubles. In each case, we derive explicit formulas for the reduced Poisson structure and equations of motion and find that they are associated with well known classical dynamical r-matrices. Our principal result is that we provide a unified treatment of a large family of reduced systems, which contains new models as well as examples of spin Sutherland and Ruijsenaars-Schneider models that were studied previously. We argue that on generic symplectic leaves of the Poisson quotients the reduced systems are integrable in the degenerate sense, although further work is required to prove this rigorously.

Contents

1.	Introduction		
	The Motivating Example of T^*G and Its Generalizations		
	Degenerate Integrability and Reduction		
	Layout and Notations		
2.	The Case of the Cotangent Bundle T^*G		
	2.1. Spin Sutherland Models from Reduction	1834	
	2.1.1. Degenerate Integrability After Reduction	1835	
	2.2. The Duals of the Spin Sutherland Models	1836	
	2.2.1. Degenerate Integrability and Duality	1838	
3.	Integrable Systems from the Heisenberg Double		
	3.1. The Basics of the Heisenberg Double		

	3.2.	Two	Degenerate Integrable Systems on the Heisenberg		
			Double	1843	
	3.3.	Defe	rmation of Spin Sutherland Models from Poisson		
			Reduction	1847	
		3.3.1	. Reduced Integrability and Interpretation as		
			Deformed Spin Sutherland Models	1850	
	3.4.	The	Duals of the Deformed Spin Sutherland Models	1851	
		Tow	ard Integrability After Reduction	1856	
4.	4. Reduction of the Quasi-Poisson Double $G \times G$				
5.	5. Summary and Outlook				
Ac	Acknowledgements				
Appendix A.			Some Lie Theoretic Facts	1864	
Appendix B.			Equivalence of Two Models of the Heisenberg Double	1867	
Appendix C.			On the Construction of G-invariant Constants of		
			Motion via Averaging	1870	
References				1873	

1. Introduction

The variants of the method of Hamiltonian reduction [5, 38, 43] play a pivotal role in deriving and analyzing integrable Hamiltonian systems. The starting point in the applications is always a manifestly integrable system on a higherdimensional phase space that possesses a large symmetry group, which is used for setting up its reduction. As examples, it is sufficient to mention that key properties of the ubiquitous Calogero–Moser–Sutherland models [7, 34, 52] and their relativistic [45] and spin generalizations [22, 28, 30] became transparent from investigations based on this method [6, 8, 15, 21, 24, 41]. For reviews of the subject, see [5, 36, 37, 40]. Building on our experience gained from previous studies [11–14, 16, 19], here we wish to explore a general set of reductions of important families of unreduced 'master systems.'

Let G be a compact, connected and simply connected Lie group whose Lie algebra \mathcal{G} is simple. In this paper we study Poisson reductions of three phase spaces associated with G. The first is the cotangent bundle

$$\mathcal{M} := T^* G \simeq G \times \mathcal{G},\tag{1.1}$$

presented by means of right-trivialization and the identification $\mathcal{G}^* \simeq \mathcal{G}$. Its Poisson–Lie generalization is the Heisenberg double [48]

$$\mathfrak{M} := G \times B, \tag{1.2}$$

which is obtained by combining the standard multiplicative Poisson structures on G and its dual Poisson–Lie group B into a symplectic structure. This is a natural generalization since T^*G is the Heisenberg double for G equipped with the zero Poisson structure. The third unreduced phase space is the so-called internally fused quasi-Poisson double [1], denoted

$$\mathfrak{D} := G \times G, \tag{1.3}$$

that is closely related to the moduli space of flat G-connections on the punctured torus. Each of these spaces carries a pair of degenerate integrable systems, and reductions of those to integrable many-body models and their spin extensions have already received considerable attention (see, e.g., [12, 19, 41, 42]and references therein). The goal of this paper is to describe a very general reduction of these 'master integrable systems' in all three cases. We shall apply the same technique in our study of the distinct cases, and shall highlight the similarities between the resulting reduced systems. The principal case of our interest is the Heisenberg double \mathfrak{M} . We include the cotangent bundle in our treatment mainly in order to motive the generalizations, although new results will be obtained also in this familiar case. The unified treatment that we present has not yet been developed in the literature, and could be useful for further detailed explorations of the reduced systems descending from the three doubles.

The doubles of G are G-manifolds, where \mathcal{M} carries the cotangent lift of the conjugation action of G on itself, G acts on \mathfrak{D} by diagonal conjugations, and there is a similar action on \mathfrak{M} built from the conjugation action and the dressing action of G on B. The Poisson brackets on \mathcal{M} and \mathfrak{M} and the quasi-Poisson bracket on \mathfrak{D} share the property that the G-invariant smooth functions form a closed Poisson algebra. By Poisson reduction, we mean the restriction to this Poisson algebra of invariant functions, which is to be thought of as a Poisson structure on the corresponding quotient space defined by the G-action. The first principal goal of our work is to derive an effective description of these 'reduced Poisson algebras.'

Denote $C^{\infty}(G)^G$, $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G$ and $C^{\infty}(B)^G$ the respective rings of invariant real functions. The functional dimension of these rings of functions equals the rank ℓ of \mathcal{G} . All three doubles are Cartesian products as manifolds, and we let π_1 and π_2 denote the projections onto the first and second factors of those Cartesian products. Then, for each of the three doubles, $\pi_1^*(C^\infty(G)^G)$ provides an Abelian Poisson subalgebra of the Poisson algebra of the G-invariant functions. We call the elements of $\pi_1^*(C^\infty(G)^G)$ pullback invariants. Using π_2 in the analogous manner, one also obtains Abelian Poisson algebras of pullback invariants. The Poisson and quasi-Poisson structures allow one to associate a (Hamiltonian or quasi-Hamiltonian) vector field to every function, defining an evolution equation. We shall explain that the evolution equation obtained from any pullback invariant gives rise to a degenerate integrable system [33, 35, 42], which means¹ that it admits a ring of constants of motion whose functional dimension is equal to $2\dim(G) - \ell$, where $2\dim(G)$ is the dimension of the phase space. We shall also explicitly describe the integral curves of the pullback invariants and their constants of motion in each case. This yields generalizations of well-known results concerning T^*G . Our second principal goal is to characterize the reductions of the degenerate integrable systems induced on the master phase spaces by the pullback invariants.

 $^{^1\}mathrm{Here},$ we implicitly extended Definition 1.1 to the non-symplectic case of the quasi-Poisson double.

For clarity, recall that the functional dimension of a ring of smooth functions \mathfrak{F} on a manifold X is k if there exists an open dense submanifold $\tilde{X} \subseteq X$ such that the exterior derivatives of the elements of \mathfrak{F} span a k-dimensional subspace of T_x^*X for every $x \in \tilde{X}$. The fact that the rings of invariants of our concern have functional dimension $\ell = \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{G})$ follows from basic Lie theoretic results, and the pullback invariants obviously have the same functional dimension as the original invariants. Below, the functional dimension of a Poisson algebra is understood to mean the functional dimension of the underlying ring of functions.

The quotient spaces of the master phase spaces are not smooth manifolds, but stratified Poisson spaces [38, 50, 51], which still can be decomposed into disjoint unions of smooth symplectic leaves. However, this is quite a complicated structure, and we will be content with describing the Poisson algebras of the invariants, and the reductions of the evolution equations generated by the pullback invariants, in terms of convenient partial gauge fixings. To explain what this means, we next outline the case of the cotangent bundle. We then briefly summarize how the picture generalizes to the other cases.

The Motivating Example of T^*G and Its Generalizations

Let us fix a maximal torus $G_0 < G$ and let $\mathcal{G}_0 < \mathcal{G}$ be its Lie algebra. The group G acts on itself by conjugations and on \mathcal{G} by the adjoint action. We denote by G^{reg} and \mathcal{G}^{reg} the dense open subsets formed by the elements whose isotropy subgroups are maximal tori in G, and let G_0^{reg} and $\mathcal{G}_0^{\text{reg}}$ be their intersections with G_0 and \mathcal{G}_0 , respectively. Then, the G-orbits through the submanifolds

$$\mathcal{M}_{0}^{\text{reg}} := \{ (Q, J) \in \mathcal{M} \mid Q \in G_{0}^{\text{reg}} \} \text{ and}$$
$$\mathcal{M}_{0}^{\text{reg}} := \{ (g, \lambda) \in \mathcal{M} \mid \lambda \in \mathcal{G}_{0}^{\text{reg}} \}$$
(1.4)

fill dense open subsets of \mathcal{M} , denoted \mathcal{M}^{reg} and $\mathcal{M'}^{\text{reg}}$. The restriction of functions leads to isomorphisms

$$C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{reg}})^G \iff C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_0^{\mathrm{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}} \quad \text{and} \quad C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}'^{\mathrm{reg}})^G \iff C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}'^{\mathrm{reg}}_0)^{\mathfrak{N}},$$

$$(1.5)$$

where $\mathfrak{N} < G$ denotes the normalizer of G_0 inside G. Speaking colloquially, we say that $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$ and $\mathcal{M}_0'^{\text{reg}}$ provide partial gauge fixings for the G-action on the dense open submanifolds $\mathcal{M}^{\text{reg}} \subset \mathcal{M}$ and $\mathcal{M}'^{\text{reg}} \subset \mathcal{M}$, and \mathfrak{N} is the corresponding residual gauge group. The key point of our work is that we use the isomorphisms (1.5) of the respective rings of functions to transfer the Poisson bracket of the G-invariant functions to the rings $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ and $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}'_0^{\text{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$. By definition, this gives the 'reduced Poisson algebras'

$$\left(C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}, \{-, -\}_{\mathrm{red}}\right)$$
 and $\left(C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_{0}'^{\mathrm{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}, \{-, -\}'_{\mathrm{red}}\right).$ (1.6)

Since any smooth, even continuous, function can be recovered from its restriction to a dense open subset, these Poisson algebras furnish two convenient descriptions of the Poisson brackets of the elements of $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})^{G}$. Their explicit formulas are given by Theorems 2.1 and 2.4, the former is well known, while the latter seems to have escaped attention previously. Here, a few clarifying remarks are in order. First, it should be noted that the reduced Poisson algebras (1.6) are larger than $(C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})^G, \{-, -\})$, since not every smooth invariant function on a dense open subset extends to a smooth function on the full of \mathcal{M} . Second, these Poisson algebras can be extended to G_0 -invariant smooth functions, for $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}/G_0$ is a covering space of $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}/\mathfrak{N}$ with the fiber given by the Weyl group \mathfrak{N}/G_0 ; and similar for $\mathcal{M}_0'^{\text{reg}}$. Without resorting to further ad hoc gauge fixings, it appears difficult to gain more effective descriptions of the Poisson algebras of the invariant functions.

Now what can we say about the reductions of the two integrable systems on \mathcal{M} ? Take an arbitrary function $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G$ and consider the restriction of the pullback invariant $\pi_2^*(\varphi)$ to $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$. This 'reduced Hamiltonian' defines a derivation of the elements of $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ through the Poisson bracket $\{-,-\}_{\text{red}}$. This derivation can be presented as a vector field on $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$, which then gives rise to a 'reduced evolution equation' on $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$. We find (Proposition 2.3) that the resulting evolution equation takes the following form:

$$\dot{Q} = (d\varphi(J))_0 Q, \qquad \dot{J} = [\mathcal{R}(Q)d\varphi(J), J].$$
 (1.7)

Here, $d\varphi$ denotes the \mathcal{G} -valued gradient of φ , the subscript zero refers to the orthogonal decomposition $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_0 + \mathcal{G}_\perp$, and $\mathcal{R}(Q) \in \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{G})$ is a well-known trigonometric solution of the modified classical dynamical Yang–Baxter equation [10]. It vanishes on \mathcal{G}_0 and, writing $Q = \exp(iq)$ with $q \in i\mathcal{G}_0^{\operatorname{reg}}$, it is given by $\mathcal{R}(Q) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{coth}(\frac{i}{2} \operatorname{ad}_q)$ on \mathcal{G}_\perp . (Here, $i\mathcal{G}_0$ is a subset of the complexification of \mathcal{G} .) Of course, the so-obtained vector fields and evolution equations are unique only up to the addition of arbitrary vector fields that are tangent to the \mathcal{G}_0 -orbits in $\mathcal{M}_0^{\operatorname{reg}}$, which generate infinitesimal residual gauge transformations. This ambiguity drops out under the eventual projection to the reduced phase space \mathcal{M}/G . Thus, our slight abuse of the term *reduced* is harmless.

Similarly, the pullback invariants $\pi_1^*(h)$ associated with the functions $h \in C^{\infty}(G)^G$ lead to interesting reduced evolution equations on $\mathcal{M}_0^{\mathrm{reg}}$. We find (Proposition 2.6) that they take the following form:

$$\dot{g} = [g, r(\lambda)\nabla h(g)], \qquad \dot{\lambda} = -(\nabla h(g))_0.$$
(1.8)

Using the Killing form $\langle -, -\rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$ of \mathcal{G} , $\nabla h(g) \in \mathcal{G}$ is defined by the relation $\langle X, \nabla h(g) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \Big|_{t=0} h(e^{tX}g)$ for all $X \in \mathcal{G}$, and $r(\lambda) \in \mathrm{End}(\mathcal{G})$ is the rational dynamical *r*-matrix that vanishes on \mathcal{G}_0 and operates on \mathcal{G}_{\perp} as $(\mathrm{ad}_{\lambda})^{-1}$. These evolution equations matter up to residual gauge transformations like in the case of (1.7).

By parametrizing J in (1.7) according to

$$J = -\mathrm{i}p - \mathcal{R}(Q)\xi - \frac{1}{2}\xi \quad \text{with} \quad p = \mathrm{i}\mathcal{G}_0, \ \xi \in \mathcal{G}_\perp,$$
(1.9)

and taking $\varphi(J) = -\frac{1}{2}\langle J, J \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$, the system (1.7) can be recognized as a spin Sutherland system, for which the components of q and p form canonically conjugate pairs and ξ is a so-called collective spin variable [19,30]. (See also Eq. (2.37).) For $G = \mathrm{SU}(n)$, restriction to a small symplectic leaf in the reduced phase space gives the trigonometric (spinless) Sutherland system [24]. On the same symplectic leaf, but using a different parametrization and the Hamiltonian $h(g) = \Re \operatorname{tr}(g)$, the system (1.8) yields a specific real form of the rational Ruijsenaars–Schneider system, which enjoys a duality relation with the trigonometric Sutherland system [14,21].

The above sketched results about reductions of the cotangent bundle are known to experts, especially the reduced system described in terms of $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$. In this paper we take the lead from this example and characterize the reductions of the Heisenberg double \mathfrak{M} and the quasi-Poisson double \mathfrak{D} in a similar manner. To highlight a key feature of these generalizations, note that the first model $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$ was obtained by 'diagonalizing' the first one out of the pairs of elements forming \mathcal{M} , and the second model $\mathcal{M}_0^{\prime \text{reg}}$ was obtained by diagonalizing the second constituent of those pairs. The pullback invariants built by using π_2^* then led to interesting reduced evolution equations on $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{red}}$, and those built on π_1^* led to interesting evolution equations on $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$. The situation turns out fully analogous for the reductions of the other two doubles. In particular, we shall derive two presentations of the Poisson algebras of the Ginvariant functions, and describe the form of the interesting reduced evolution equations induced by the two rings of pullback invariants. Concerning the Heisenberg double, these results are summarized by Theorem 3.5 together with Proposition 3.8, and Theorem 3.10 with Proposition 3.12, which are tied with two partial gauge fixings akin to what is displayed in (1.4) for T^*G . The analogous results pertaining to the quasi-Poisson double are formulated in Theorem 4.3 and Proposition 4.4. These theorems and propositions constitute the main new results of the present paper.

Motivated by the case of T^*G [41] and the results of [14–16,21], we say that the two kinds of reduced systems that arise from the same double are in duality with each other. In the case of the quasi-Poisson double, duality actually becomes self-duality. The meaning of these dualities will be elaborated in the text.

Degenerate Integrability and Reduction

First of all, let us specify the precise notion of degenerate integrability used in this paper.

Definition 1.1. By definition [35], a degenerate integrable system on a symplectic manifold of dimension N consists of an Abelian Poisson subalgebra of the Poisson algebra of smooth functions such that its functional dimension, δ , is smaller than N/2, and the functional dimension of its centralizer is $(N - \delta)$. To put it more plainly, the system is built on $1 \leq \delta < N/2$ functionally independent, mutually Poisson commuting Hamiltonians that admit $(N - \delta)$ functionally independent joint constants of motion. An additional requirement is that the commuting Hamiltonians should possess complete flows.

Degenerate integrability is a stronger property than Liouville integrability, which corresponds to the limiting case $\delta = N/2$. For the structure of the systems having this property, see [33, 35, 42, 43]. Further variants of the notion of integrability, as well as their extension to Poisson manifolds, and even to Abelian Lie algebras of non-Hamiltonian vector fields, are also discussed in the literature [23,29,53].

The restrictions of our reduced systems are expected to give degenerate integrable systems on generic symplectic leaves of the quotient space of the double in each case. Reshetikhin has argued [41] that this is the case for the complex holomorphic analog of the cotangent bundle T^*G , and his arguments can be adapted to the compact real form. His joint paper with Arthamonov [4] leads to the same conclusion regarding the quasi-Poisson double. It may well be that integrability holds on all symplectic leaves (with only Liouville integrability on exceptional leaves), but we cannot prove this at present. Nevertheless, we deem it worthwhile to outline two mechanisms that point toward the heuristic statement that 'degenerate integrability is generically inherited by the reduced systems engendered by Poisson reduction.'

Let V be a G-invariant vector field on a G-manifold X. Equivalently, if x(t) is an integral curve of V, then $A_{\eta}(x(t))$ is also an integral curve for each $\eta \in G$, where A_{η} denotes the diffeomorphism of X associated with $\eta \in G$. Suppose now that G is compact and denote by d_G the probability Haar measure on G. For any real function $\mathcal{F} \in C^{\infty}(X)$, define the function $\mathcal{F}^G \in C^{\infty}(X)^G$ by averaging the functions $A_n^* \mathcal{F}$ over G,

$$\mathcal{F}^G(x) := \int_G \mathcal{F}(A_\eta(x)) d_G(\eta), \qquad \forall x \in X.$$
(1.10)

Clearly, if \mathcal{F} is a constant of motion for the vector field V, then \mathcal{F}^G is a Ginvariant constant of motion for V. In [53], averaging was used for arguing that, generically, degenerate integrability survives Poisson reduction. In this work, it was assumed that the G-action is generated by an equivariant moment map into \mathcal{G}^* . However, the fine structure of the quotient space of X was treated only rather casually. See also the review [23]. The averaging of the unreduced constants of motion is applicable in all cases that we study except for the pullback invariants from $\pi_1^*(C^{\infty}(G)^G) \subset C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})$, since their Hamiltonian vector fields are not G-invariant (but of course are projectable on \mathfrak{M}/G). This is explained in Appendix C.

Now, we formulate a second mechanism whereby integrability can descend to reduced systems. We extracted this mechanism from the work of Reshetikhin [41]. It will turn out to be applicable to all of our examples of interest. We begin by listing a number of strong assumptions. First, consider two *G*-manifolds *X* and *Y* for which both quotient spaces X/G and Y/G are manifolds such that $\pi_X : X \to X/G$ and $\pi_Y : Y \to Y/G$ are smooth submersions. Second, suppose that $\Psi : X \to Y$ is a smooth, *G*-equivariant, surjective map. Then, Ψ gives rise to a well-defined smooth, surjective map $\Psi_{\text{red}} : X/G \to Y/G$, for which

$$\pi_Y \circ \Psi = \Psi_{\text{red}} \circ \pi_X. \tag{1.11}$$

Third, suppose that we have a vector field V on X that is projectable to a vector field $V_{\rm red}$ on X/G. Coming to the crux, if we now assume that Ψ is constant along the integral curves of V, then we obtain that $\Psi_{\rm red}$ is constant along the integral curves of $V_{\rm red}$. Indeed, this holds since the integral curves

of V_{red} result by applying π_X to the integral curves of V. In such a situation, $\Psi^*(C^{\infty}(Y))$ gives constants of motion for V and $\Psi^*_{\text{red}}(C^{\infty}(Y/G))$ gives constants of motion for V_{red} . In particular, the functional dimension of the ring of constants of motion for the projected vector field V_{red} is at most dim(G) less than the dimension of Y. Under favorable circumstances, this mechanism can be used to show the degenerate integrability of the reduced system on X/Gthat descends from the commuting (Hamiltonian) vector fields of a degenerate integrable system on X. The unreduced commuting Hamiltonians must be G-invariant and must remain independent after reduction. To put this mechanism into practice, one may have to restrict oneself to dense open submanifolds and to generic symplectic leaves of the quotient Poisson structure. This will become clear in the examples.

Layout and Notations

The organization of the rest of the paper is shown by the table of contents. Sections 2, 3 and 4 are devoted to the three doubles, starting from the cotangent bundle. In each case, we first describe the unreduced phase space and its degenerate integrable systems, and then turn to their reductions. We have already delineated the theorems and proposition that contain our main new results. These results and open problems are briefly discussed in Sect. 5. Three appendices are also included, which contain auxiliary material. In particular, Appendix A summarizes some Lie theoretic background that the reader may wish to look at before reading Sect. 3.

Throughout the paper, our notations 'pretend' that we are dealing with matrix Lie groups. For example, $\eta J \eta^{-1}$ in Eq. (2.5) denotes the adjoint action of $\eta \in G$ on $J \in \mathcal{G}$. As another example, Xg in (2.13) stands for the value at $g \in G$ of the right-invariant vector field on G associated with the element Xfrom the Lie algebra \mathcal{G} of G. Such matrix notations simplify many formulas considerably, and can be easily converted into more abstract notation if desired. Then, one can verify that our results are valid for abstract Lie groups as well. Alternatively, one may employ faithful matrix representations of the underlying Lie groups.

2. The Case of the Cotangent Bundle T^*G

Let G be a connected and simply connected compact Lie group whose Lie algebra \mathcal{G} is simple. In this section, we describe two degenerate integrable systems on the cotangent bundle T^*G and characterize their Poisson reduction induced by the conjugation action of G. The first system contains the Hamiltonian that generates free geodesic motion on G, and its reduction leads to a trigonometric spin Sutherland model. The reduction of the other system on T^*G gives rational spin Ruijsenaars–Schneider type models. Most of the results presented in this section are available in the literature [19,41]. We include their treatment mainly in order to motivate the subsequent generalizations. However, the descriptions of the reduced Poisson brackets and equations of motion as given by Theorem 2.4 and Proposition 2.6 appear to be new.

Let us identify the dual space \mathcal{G}^* with \mathcal{G} using the (negative definite) inner product $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$, which is a multiple of the Killing form, and then identify $\mathcal{M} := T^*G$ with $G \times \mathcal{G}$ using right translations. The canonical Poisson bracket on the phase space

$$\mathcal{M} = G \times \mathcal{G} = \{ (g, J) \mid g \in G, J \in \mathcal{G} \}$$

$$(2.1)$$

can be written as

$$\{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\}(g,J) = \langle \nabla_1 \mathcal{F}, d_2 \mathcal{H} \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} - \langle \nabla_1 \mathcal{H}, d_2 \mathcal{F} \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle J, [d_2 \mathcal{F}, d_2 \mathcal{H}] \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}, \quad (2.2)$$

where the derivatives are taken at (g, J). Here and below, we use the \mathcal{G} -valued derivatives of any $\mathcal{F} \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})$, defined by

$$\langle X, \nabla_1 \mathcal{F}(g, J) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle X', \nabla_1' \mathcal{F}(g, J) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} := \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} \mathcal{F}(e^{tX} g e^{tX'}, J),$$

$$\forall (g, J) \in \mathcal{M}, \, X, X' \in \mathcal{G},$$
 (2.3)

and

$$\langle X, d_2 \mathcal{F}(g, J) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} := \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} \mathcal{F}(g, J+tX), \quad \forall (g, J) \in \mathcal{M}, \ X \in \mathcal{G}.$$
 (2.4)

The group G acts by simultaneous conjugations of g and J, i.e., the action of $\eta \in G$ on \mathcal{M} is furnished by the map

$$A_{\eta}: (g, J) \mapsto (\eta g \eta^{-1}, \eta J \eta^{-1}).$$

$$(2.5)$$

This Hamiltonian action is generated by the moment map $\Phi: \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{G}$,

$$\Phi(g,J) = J - \tilde{J} \quad \text{where} \quad \tilde{J} := g^{-1}Jg.$$
(2.6)

The space of *G*-invariant real functions, $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})^G$, forms a Poisson subalgebra. By definition, this is identified as the Poisson algebra of smooth functions carried by the quotient space \mathcal{M}/G .

Let us first consider the invariant Hamiltonians $\mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})^G$ of the form

$$\mathcal{H}(g,J) = \varphi(J) \quad \text{with} \quad \varphi \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G.$$
 (2.7)

That is, $\mathcal{H} = \pi_2^*(\varphi)$ using the natural projection $\pi_2 : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{G}$. There are $\ell := \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{G})$ functionally independent Hamiltonians in this set, since the ring of invariants for the adjoint action of G on \mathcal{G} , $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G$, is freely generated by ℓ basic invariants (see, e.g., [32], Section 30). The Hamiltonian vector field engendered by \mathcal{H} can be written as

$$\dot{g} = (d\varphi(J))g, \qquad \dot{J} = 0, \tag{2.8}$$

and its integral curve through the initial value (g(0), J(0)) reads

$$(g(t), J(t)) = (\exp(td\varphi(J(0)))g(0), J(0)).$$
(2.9)

The corresponding constants of motion are given by arbitrary functions of Jand \tilde{J} (2.6). Since $\psi(J) = \psi(\tilde{J})$ for every function $\psi \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^{G}$, and this gives ℓ relations, the functional dimension of the ring of constants of motion is $2 \dim(\mathcal{G}) - \ell$. Therefore, the Hamiltonians (2.7) form a degenerate integrable system. Another degenerate integrable system arises from the Hamiltonians $\mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})^{G}$ of the form

$$\mathcal{H}(g,J) = h(g) \quad \text{with} \quad h \in C^{\infty}(G)^G.$$
(2.10)

In other words, $\mathcal{H} = \pi_1^*(h)$ with the projection $\pi_1 : \mathcal{M} \to G$. These Hamiltonians are in involution and form a ring of functional dimension rank(\mathcal{G}), too. The corresponding evolution equations read

$$\dot{g} = 0, \qquad \dot{J} = -\nabla h(g), \qquad (2.11)$$

and their flows are given by

$$(g(t), J(t)) = (g(0), J(0) - t\nabla h(g(0))).$$
(2.12)

The constants of motion are now found as arbitrary functions of the pair (g, Φ) , where Φ is the moment map (2.6). To show that the functional dimension of this ring of functions is $2 \dim(\mathcal{G}) - \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{G})$, consider the isotropy subalgebra of g,

$$\mathcal{G}(g) := \{ X \in \mathcal{G} \mid Xg - gX = 0 \},$$
(2.13)

whose dimension equals $\ell = \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{G})$ for generic g. Then, notice the identity

$$\langle \Phi(g, J), X \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad X \in \mathcal{G}(g).$$
 (2.14)

On a dense open subset of \mathcal{M} , this implies ℓ relations between the components of $\Phi(g, J)$, and apart from this Φ varies freely if g is generic. It follows that the functional dimension of the ring of constants of motion is $2 \dim(\mathcal{G}) - \ell$, proving that the Hamiltonians (2.10) yield a degenerate integrable system.

An element of G is *regular* if its isotropy group with respect to conjugations is a maximal torus in G, and an element of \mathcal{G} is regular if its centralizer in \mathcal{G} is the Lie algebra of a maximal torus. We fix a maximal torus $G_0 < G$ and let \mathcal{G}_0 denote its Lie algebra. Then, G^{reg} , G_0^{reg} and \mathcal{G}^{reg} , $\mathcal{G}_0^{\text{reg}}$ stand for the corresponding open dense subsets of regular elements. We also introduce the following sets

$$\mathcal{M}^{\text{reg}} := \{ (g, J) \in \mathcal{M} \mid g \in G^{\text{reg}} \}, \mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}} := \{ (Q, J) \in \mathcal{M} \mid Q \in G_0^{\text{reg}} \},$$
(2.15)

and

$$\mathcal{M}^{\prime \operatorname{reg}} := \{ (g, J) \in \mathcal{M} \mid J \in \mathcal{G}^{\operatorname{reg}} \}, \\ \mathcal{M}^{\prime \operatorname{reg}}_{0} := \{ (g, \lambda) \in \mathcal{M} \mid \lambda \in \mathcal{G}^{\operatorname{reg}}_{0} \}.$$
(2.16)

The submanifolds $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}} \subset \mathcal{M}^{\text{reg}}$ and $\mathcal{M}'_0^{\text{reg}} \subset \mathcal{M}'^{\text{reg}}$ are stable under the action of the normalizer of G_0 in G, which we denote by \mathfrak{N} :

$$\mathfrak{N} := \{ \eta \in G \mid \eta G_0 \eta^{-1} = G_0 \}.$$
(2.17)

Note that G_0 is a normal subgroup of \mathfrak{N} , and the factor group \mathfrak{N}/G_0 is the Weyl group of the pair (G_0, G) .

L. Fehér

Any continuous function \mathcal{F} on \mathcal{M} can be recovered from its restriction to $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$, as well as from its restriction to $\mathcal{M}'_0^{\text{reg}}$. The restrictions of the *G*invariant functions enjoy residual \mathfrak{N} -invariance. It is also easy to see that the restrictions of functions provide the following isomorphisms:

$$C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{reg}})^G \iff C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_0^{\mathrm{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$$
 (2.18)

and

$$C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}'^{\mathrm{reg}})^G \iff C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}'^{\mathrm{reg}}_0)^{\mathfrak{N}}.$$
 (2.19)

In preparation, now we introduce the dynamical r-matrices that will feature below. For this purpose, we consider the decomposition

$$\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_0 + \mathcal{G}_\perp, \tag{2.20}$$

where \mathcal{G}_{\perp} is the orthogonal complement of the fixed maximal Abelian subalgebra $\mathcal{G}_0 < \mathcal{G}$ with respect to the Killing form. Accordingly, we may write any $X \in \mathcal{G}$ as

$$X = X_0 + X_\perp \quad \text{where} \quad X_0 \in \mathcal{G}_0, \, X_\perp \in \mathcal{G}_\perp.$$
(2.21)

Then, for any $Q \in G_0^{\text{reg}}$ we introduce $\mathcal{R}(Q) \in \text{End}(\mathcal{G})$ by

$$\mathcal{R}(Q)(X) = \frac{1}{2} (\mathrm{Ad}_Q + \mathrm{id}) \circ (\mathrm{Ad}_Q - \mathrm{id})_{|\mathcal{G}_{\perp}}^{-1}(X_{\perp}), \qquad (2.22)$$

using that $(\operatorname{Ad}_Q - \operatorname{id})$ is invertible on \mathcal{G}_{\perp} . Moreover, for any $\lambda \in \mathcal{G}_0^{\operatorname{reg}}$ we define $r(\lambda) \in \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{G})$ by

$$r(\lambda)(X) := (\mathrm{ad}_{\lambda})^{-1}_{|\mathcal{G}_{\perp}}(X_{\perp}), \qquad (2.23)$$

using that ad_{λ} is invertible on \mathcal{G}_{\perp} . These linear operators are well-known solutions of the (modified) classical dynamical Yang–Baxter equation [10]. They vanish identically on \mathcal{G}_0 and are antisymmetric

$$\langle \mathcal{R}(Q)X, Y \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = -\langle X, \mathcal{R}(Q)Y \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}, \langle r(\lambda)X, Y \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = -\langle X, r(\lambda)Y \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}, \quad \forall X, Y \in \mathcal{G}.$$
 (2.24)

With the necessary definitions at hand, we are ready to derive convenient characterizations of the Poisson algebras of the invariant functions. We begin by noting that every G-invariant function on \mathcal{M} satisfies the basic identity

$$g^{-1}\nabla_1 \mathcal{F}(g,J)g - \nabla_1 \mathcal{F}(g,J) = [J, d_2 \mathcal{F}(g,J)].$$
(2.25)

This is a consequence of the property

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Big|_{t=0} \mathcal{F}\left(e^{tX}ge^{-tX}, e^{tX}Je^{-tX}\right) = 0, \qquad \forall X \in \mathcal{G},$$
(2.26)

taking into account the equality $\nabla' \mathcal{F}(g, J) = g^{-1} \nabla \mathcal{F}(g, J) g$.

2.1. Spin Sutherland Models from Reduction

For any $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}})$ define $\nabla_{1}F(Q,J) \in \mathcal{G}_{0}$ by $\langle X_{0}, \nabla_{1}F(Q,J) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} := \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} F(e^{tX_{0}}Q,J), \forall X_{0} \in \mathcal{G}_{0}, (Q,J) \in \mathcal{M}_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}},$ (2.27)

and define $d_2F(Q, J) \in \mathcal{G}$ similarly to (2.4).

Theorem 2.1. Let $F, H \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_0^{reg})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ be the restrictions of invariant functions $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}^{reg})^G$. Defining the reduced Poisson bracket of F and Hby

$$\{F,H\}_{red}(Q,J) := \{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\}(Q,J), \qquad \forall (Q,J) \in \mathcal{M}_0^{reg}, \tag{2.28}$$

the following formula holds:

$$\{F, H\}_{red}(Q, J) = \langle \nabla_1 F, d_2 H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} - \langle \nabla_1 H, d_2 F \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle J, [\mathcal{R}(Q) \\ d_2 F, d_2 H] + [d_2 F, \mathcal{R}(Q) d_2 H] \rangle_{\mathcal{G}},$$
(2.29)

where $\mathcal{R}(Q)$ is given by (2.22) and the derivatives are taken at (Q, J).

Proof. In order to evaluate the right-hand side of (2.28), we have to express the derivatives of \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{H} in terms of the derivatives of the corresponding restricted functions. Plainly, we have

$$d_2\mathcal{F}(Q,J) = d_2F(Q,J) \quad \text{and} \quad (\nabla_1\mathcal{F}(Q,J))_0 = \nabla_1F(Q,J), \quad (2.30)$$

where we use the decomposition (2.20). The invariance with respect to $G_0 < G$ implies $[J, d_2F(Q, J)]_0 = 0$. For $X_{\perp} := (\nabla_1 \mathcal{F}(Q, J))_{\perp}$ and $Y_{\perp} := [d_2F(Q, J), J]$, the identity (2.25) gives

$$(\mathrm{Ad}_{Q^{-1}} - \mathrm{id})X_{\perp} = Y_{\perp}.$$
 (2.31)

This can be solved:

$$X_{\perp} = \operatorname{Ad}_Q \circ (\operatorname{id} - \operatorname{Ad}_Q)^{-1} Y_{\perp} = \left(\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{id} + \mathcal{R}(Q)\right) Y_{\perp}$$
(2.32)

with $\mathcal{R}(Q)$ (2.22), where the inverse is understood to be taken on \mathcal{G}_{\perp} . By using these equalities as well as the antisymmetry (2.24) and the invariance property of the Killing form, at (Q, J) we obtain

$$\langle \nabla_1 \mathcal{F}, d_2 \mathcal{H} \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = \langle \nabla_1 F, d_2 H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \frac{1}{2} \langle J, [d_2 H, d_2 F] \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle J, [d_2 F, \mathcal{R}(Q) d_2 H] \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}.$$
(2.33)

Inserting this and $\langle \nabla_1 \mathcal{H}, d_2 \mathcal{F} \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$ into (2.2), together with $\langle J, [d_2 \mathcal{F}, d_2 \mathcal{H}] \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = \langle J, [d_2 F, d_2 H] \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$, leads to the claimed formula (2.29).

Remark 2.2. On account of the isomorphism (2.18), the formula (2.29) defines a Poisson bracket on $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$, which can be identified with the ring of smooth functions on $\mathcal{M}^{\text{reg}}/G \simeq \mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}/\mathfrak{N}$. This space of functions is larger than $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}/G)$, since there exist *G*-invariant smooth functions on \mathcal{M}^{reg} that do not extend smoothly to the full manifold \mathcal{M} . (For example [18], in the G =SU(n) case the ordered eigenvalues of $g \in G$ give such functions.) On the other hand, the same formula (2.29) yields a Poisson bracket also on $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}})^{G_{0}}$, since $\mathcal{M}_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}}/G_{0}$ is a covering space of $\mathcal{M}_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}}/\mathfrak{N}$, with the fibers labeled by the elements of the Weyl group \mathfrak{N}/G_{0} . To avoid any possible confusion, we note that in (2.29) $\langle \nabla_{1}F, d_{2}H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = \langle \nabla_{1}F, (d_{2}H)_{0} \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$ since $\nabla_{1}F$ is \mathcal{G}_{0} -valued, and similarly for the second term.

The following statement is an immediate consequence of Theorem 2.1 and the identity

$$[J, d\varphi(J)] = 0, \quad \forall J \in \mathcal{G}, \tag{2.34}$$

which is verified by every $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G$.

Proposition 2.3. If $\mathcal{H}(g, J) = \varphi(J)$ with $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G$, then for its restriction $H \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_0^{reg})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ and any $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_0^{reg})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ the Poisson bracket (2.29) reads $\{F, H\}_{red}(Q, J) = \langle \nabla_1 F(Q, J), d\varphi(J) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle d_2 F(Q, J), [\mathcal{R}(Q)d\varphi(J), J] \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}.$ (2.35)

This gives the derivative of F with respect to an evolution vector field on \mathcal{M}_0^{reg} , and the corresponding 'reduced evolution equation' on \mathcal{M}_0^{reg} can be taken to be

$$\dot{Q} = (d\varphi(J))_0 Q, \quad \dot{J} = [\mathcal{R}(Q)d\varphi(J), J].$$
 (2.36)

The solutions of the evolution equation (2.36) result by applying suitable (point dependent) *G*-transformations to the unreduced integral curves (2.9), and they project onto the reduced dynamics on $\mathcal{M}^{\text{reg}}/G \simeq \mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}/\mathfrak{N}$. This follows from the general theory of Hamiltonian reduction [38]. Of course, the evolution vector field on $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$ is not unique, because the derivative of $F \in$ $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ is zero along any vector field that is tangent to the orbits of G_0 in $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$. We fixed this ambiguity by requiring that the derivative of any $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}})$ should be given by the right-hand side of (2.35).

The reduced system governed by the Poisson bracket (2.29) and equations of motion (2.36) can be interpreted as a spin Sutherland model. Since this is well known [19,30], we only note that for $\varphi(J) := -\frac{1}{2} \langle J, J \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$ the parametrization (1.9) of J by the new variables q (with $Q = e^{iq}$), p and ξ leads to

$$-\frac{1}{2}\langle J,J\rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = -\frac{1}{2}\langle \mathrm{i}p,\mathrm{i}p\rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\alpha>0}\frac{|\xi_{\alpha}|^2}{|\alpha|^2\sin^2(\alpha(q)/2)},\tag{2.37}$$

which is a standard spin Sutherland Hamiltonian. Here, the sum is over the positive roots of the complexification $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$ of \mathcal{G} with respect to the Cartan subalgebra $\mathcal{G}_{0}^{\mathbb{C}} < \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$, and the spin variable $\xi \in \mathcal{G}_{\perp}$ is expanded as $\xi = \sum_{\alpha>0} (\xi_{\alpha} E_{\alpha} - \xi_{\alpha}^{*} E_{-\alpha})$ using root vectors $E_{\pm\alpha}$ (normalized according to Appendix A).

2.1.1. Degenerate Integrability After Reduction. We now discuss how the mechanism outlined around Eq. (1.11) is applicable to the present case. By inspecting the restriction on $\mathcal{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$, it is easily seen that $\pi_2^*(C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G)$ gives rise to $\ell = \text{rank}(\mathcal{G})$ generically independent Hamiltonians on \mathcal{M}/G . Let us now define the smooth, *G*-equivariant map $\Psi_1 : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G}$ by

$$\Psi_1(g,J) := (\tilde{J},J) \quad \text{with} \quad \tilde{J} = g^{-1}Jg, \tag{2.38}$$

where $\eta \in G$ acts on $\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G}$ by applying Ad_{η} to both components of $(a, b) \in \mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G}$. \mathcal{G} . Then, taking any function $\chi \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G})^G$, the function $\Psi_1^*(\chi) \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})^G$ is a smooth, G-invariant constant of motion. We next outline a train of thought indicating that these constants of motion guarantee degenerate integrability after reduction.

The isotropy subgroup of generic elements from the image of Ψ_1 is clearly just the center Z_G of G. These generic elements form a manifold Y of dimension $2 \dim(G) - \ell$, and its pre-image $X \subset \mathcal{M}$ is a dense, open, G-invariant subset. Thus, taking $\Psi := \Psi_1$ in (1.11), we obtain $\dim(G) - \ell$ functionally independent constants of motion for the restriction of the reduced system to $X/G \subset \mathcal{M}/G$. By using the moment map Φ (2.6), the G-invariant functions of the form $\phi \circ \Phi$, with any $\phi \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G$, descend to ℓ independent *Casimir functions* on \mathcal{M}/G . Fixing the values of these Casimir functions, generically one obtains a symplectic leaf of dimension $\dim(G) - \ell$ in \mathcal{M}/G . Thus, on the intersection of such a generic symplectic leaf with X/G, there remain $\dim(G) - 2\ell$ independent constants of motion. This is sufficient for degenerate integrability since the commuting reduced Hamiltonians remain independent on the generic symplectic leaves.

The above arguments make us confident to expect degenerate integrability on generic symplectic leaves of \mathcal{M}/G . These arguments essentially coincide with those presented by Reshetikin [41] for the corresponding complex holomorphic systems. A more complete, rigorous analysis of reduced integrability is beyond the scope of the present paper.

2.2. The Duals of the Spin Sutherland Models

Now, we turn to the characterization of the Poisson algebra of the invariant functions in terms of their restriction to $\mathcal{M}'_0^{\text{reg}}$ (2.16). For any $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}'_0^{\text{reg}})$, $d_2F(g,\lambda) \in \mathcal{G}_0$ is defined by

$$\langle X_0, d_2 F(g, \lambda) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} := \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} F(g, \lambda + tX_0), \forall X_0 \in \mathcal{G}_0, \ (g, \lambda) \in \mathcal{M}_0^{\prime \mathrm{reg}},$$
(2.39)

and the derivatives with respect to the first variable are given by (2.3).

Theorem 2.4. Let $F, H \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}'_0^{reg})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ be restrictions of invariant functions $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}'^{reg})^G$. Defining the reduced Poisson brackets of F and H by

$$\{F,H\}'_{red}(g,\lambda) := \{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\}(g,\lambda), \qquad \forall (g,\lambda) \in \mathcal{M}'_0^{reg}, \tag{2.40}$$

the following formula holds:

$$\{F, H\}'_{red}(g, \lambda) = \langle \nabla_1 F, d_2 H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} - \langle \nabla_1 H, d_2 F \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle \nabla_1' F, r(\lambda) \nabla_1' H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} - \langle \nabla_1 F, r(\lambda) \nabla_1 H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}},$$
 (2.41)

where $r(\lambda)$ is given by (2.23) and the derivatives are taken at (g, λ) .

Proof. First of all, we remark that

$$\nabla_1 \mathcal{F}(g,\lambda) = \nabla_1 F(g,\lambda), \quad (d_2 \mathcal{F}(g,\lambda))_0 = d_2 F(g,\lambda), \tag{2.42}$$

and, as a consequence of the invariance under $G_0 < G$,

$$(\nabla_1' \mathcal{F}(g,\lambda) - \nabla_1 \mathcal{F}(g,\lambda))_0 = 0.$$
(2.43)

The subscript 0 refers to the decomposition (2.21). In view of the formula (2.2), we have to express $(d_2\mathcal{F}(g,\lambda))_{\perp}$ in terms of the derivatives of F with respect to the variable g. By applying (2.25) at (g,λ) and using the above relations, we find

$$(d_2 \mathcal{F}(g,\lambda))_{\perp} = r(\lambda) \left(\nabla_1' F(g,\lambda) - \nabla_1 F(g,\lambda) \right)$$
(2.44)

with $r(\lambda)$ (2.23). Then, substitution in the right-hand side of (2.40) leads to

$$\{F, H\}'_{\text{red}} = \langle \nabla_1 F, d_2 H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} - \langle \nabla_1 H, d_2 F \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle \nabla_1 F, r(\lambda) (\nabla'_1 H - \nabla_1 H) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} - \langle \nabla_1 H, r(\lambda) (\nabla'_1 F - \nabla_1 F) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle \lambda, [r(\lambda) (\nabla'_1 H - \nabla_1 H), r(\lambda) (\nabla'_1 F - \nabla_1 F)] \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}.$$
(2.45)

This can be simplified by virtue of the classical dynamical Yang–Baxter equation [10], which can be written as [19]

$$[r(\lambda)X, r(\lambda)Y] = r(\lambda) \left([X, r(\lambda)Y] + [r(\lambda)X, Y] \right) + d_{Y_0}r(\lambda)X - d_{X_0}r(\lambda)Y + \sum_i K^i \langle X, d_{K_i}r(\lambda)Y \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}, \qquad (2.46)$$

 $\forall X, Y \in \mathcal{G}$, where d_{X_0}, d_{Y_0} and d_{K_i} are directional derivatives, and $\langle K_i, K^j \rangle = \delta_i^j$ with a pair of dual bases of \mathcal{G}_0 . We observe that

$$\left\langle \lambda, \sum_{i} K^{i} \langle X, d_{K_{i}} r(\lambda) Y \right\rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = \langle X, d_{\lambda} r(\lambda) Y \rangle \quad \text{and} \quad d_{\lambda} r(\lambda) = -r(\lambda).$$

$$(2.47)$$

We now take $X := (\nabla'_1 H - \nabla_1 H)$, and $Y := (\nabla'_1 F - \nabla_1 F)$, for which $X_0 = Y_0 = 0$. Noticing that $\langle \lambda, r(\lambda) Z \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = 0$ for all $Z \in \mathcal{G}$, because $r(\lambda)$ is antisymmetric (2.24) and vanishes on \mathcal{G}_0 , we obtain

$$\langle \lambda, [r(\lambda)(\nabla_1' H - \nabla_1 H), r(\lambda)(\nabla_1' F - \nabla_1 F)] \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$$

= $-\langle \nabla_1' H - \nabla_1 H, r(\lambda)(\nabla_1' F - \nabla_1 F) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}.$ (2.48)

By inserting this into (2.45) and collecting terms, we arrive at the claimed formula (2.41).

Remark 2.5. The formula (2.41) defines a Poisson bracket not only on $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}'_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$, but also on $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}'_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}})^{G_{0}}$. It should be noted that $\langle \nabla_{1}F, d_{2}H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = \langle (\nabla_{1}F)_{0}, d_{2}H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$ since $d_{2}H$ is \mathcal{G}_{0} -valued.

The next result follows from Theorem 2.4 by using that

$$\nabla h = \nabla' h, \quad \forall h \in C^{\infty}(G)^G.$$
 (2.49)

Proposition 2.6. If H is the restriction of an invariant Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H} = \pi_2^* h$ displayed in (2.10), then (2.41) simplifies to

$$\{F, H\}'_{red}(g, \lambda) = -\langle d_2 F(g, \lambda), \nabla h(g) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle \nabla'_1 F(g, \lambda) - \nabla_1 F(g, \lambda), r(\lambda) \nabla h(g) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}.$$
 (2.50)

The corresponding reduced evolution equation on $\mathcal{M}_0^{\prime reg}$ can be taken to be

$$\dot{g} = [g, r(\lambda)\nabla h(g)], \qquad \dot{\lambda} = -(\nabla h(g))_0.$$
 (2.51)

The counterpart of the discussion presented after Proposition 2.3 is applicable in this case as well. We merely note that the solutions of the evolution equations (2.51) can be obtained by applying suitable *G*-transformations to those unreduced integral curves (2.12), whose initial values belong to \mathcal{M}_{0}^{reg} .

It is known [14] that in the $G = \mathrm{SU}(n)$ case the above reduced system contains a real form of the rational Ruijsenaars–Schneider model on a special symplectic leaf. The leaf in question arises by fixing the Casimir functions $\phi \circ \Phi$ $(\phi \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G)$ in such a way that the corresponding joint level surface in $\mathcal{G} \simeq \mathcal{G}^*$ is a minimal (co)adjoint orbit of dimension 2(n-1). The main Hamiltonian of this model is associated with the function $h(g) = \Re \operatorname{tr}(g)$ on G. This lends justification to the terminology 'spin Ruijsenaars–Schneider type models' [41] as a name for the models that stem from the integrable Hamiltonians (2.10) in general. However, in contrast to the spin Sutherland models described in the preceding subsection, it is still an open problem to separate the variables of these models into canonically conjugate pairs complementing the components of λ and additional 'spin' degrees of freedom.

2.2.1. Degenerate Integrability and Duality. The degenerate integrability of the reduced systems built on the pullback invariants $\pi_1^*(C^{\infty}(G)^G)$ can be analyzed quite similarly to the previous case of $\pi_2^*(C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G)$. Now one may use the map

$$\Psi_2 : \mathcal{M} \to G \times \mathcal{G} \quad \text{defined by} \quad \Psi_2(g, J) := (g, \Phi(g, J)),$$
 (2.52)

which is constant along the flows of any $\mathcal{H} \in \pi_1^*(C^{\infty}(G)^G)$, and is *G*-equivariant with respect to the same action that operates on \mathcal{M} . The arguments presented at the end of Sect. 2.1 go through with little modification, as is discussed in [41] in the holomorphic case. In particular, employing any $\chi \in C^{\infty}(G \times \mathcal{G})^G$, the function $\Psi_2^*(\chi) \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})^G$ is a smooth, *G*-invariant constant of motion.

Incidentally, the maps Ψ_1 (2.38) and Ψ_2 (2.52) are Poisson maps with respect to suitable Poisson structures on the target spaces $\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G}$ and $G \times \mathcal{G}$, which can be easily found by requiring this property to hold. Therefore, the just mentioned *G*-invariant constants of motion $\Psi_2^*(\chi)$ form a closed Poisson subalgebra of $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})^G$ (and similarly for Ψ_1).

Finally, let us comment on the duality between the spin Sutherland and the spin Ruijsenaars-Schneider systems. To this end, we regard the functions of Q in (2.15) and λ in (2.16) as 'position variables' for the respective models. Those functions of Q that descend to well-defined functions on \mathcal{M}/G arise from $\pi_1^*(C^{\infty}(G)^G)$ and the functions of λ having the same property arise from $\pi_2^*(C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G)$. In this way, one of the two sets of pullback invariants plays the role of 'global position variables' in every reduced system, while the other set engenders the commuting Hamiltonians of interest of the same system. The role of the two sets of pullback invariant is interchanged in the two systems. That is, since both systems leave on the same phase space \mathcal{M}/G , the global position variables of one system are the interesting Hamiltonians of the other one, and vice versa. This kind of duality was originally discovered by Ruijsenaars for spinless models (see the review [44] and references therein). We call it *Ruijsenaars duality* or *action-position duality*, taking into account that in integrable models the commuting Hamiltonians are in bijective correspondence with the action variables. We prefer this to the term action-angle duality, which is also used in the literature.

3. Integrable Systems from the Heisenberg Double

In this section, we first describe the Heisenberg double associated with a compact Lie group G and specify two degenerate integrable systems on this phase space. We then study the Poisson reduction of these systems. For notations, see the remark at the end of Sect. 1 and also Appendix A. For the underlying theory of Poisson-Lie groups, one may consult the reviews [27, 49].

3.1. The Basics of the Heisenberg Double

We start with a compact simple Lie algebra, \mathcal{G} , and pick a maximal Abelian subalgebra, \mathcal{G}_0 . These can be regarded as real forms of a complex simple Lie algebra, $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$, and its Cartan subalgebra, $\mathcal{G}_0^{\mathbb{C}}$. Choosing a system of positive roots, we obtain the triangular decomposition

$$\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}} = \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}_{<} + \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}_{0} + \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}_{>}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}_{>}$ is spanned by the eigenvectors associated with the positive roots. Referring to this, we may present any $X \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$ as

$$X = X_{<} + X_{0} + X_{>} \tag{3.2}$$

with the terms taken from the corresponding subspaces. The real vector space

$$\mathcal{B} := \mathrm{i}\mathcal{G}_0 + \mathcal{G}_>^{\mathbb{C}} \tag{3.3}$$

is a Lie subalgebra of the 'realification' $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ of $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$ (i.e., $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$ viewed as a real Lie algebra), and it gives rise to the direct sum decomposition

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}} = \mathcal{G} + \mathcal{B}. \tag{3.4}$$

Correspondingly, we may write any $X \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ as

$$X = X_{\mathcal{G}} + X_{\mathcal{B}}, \qquad X_{\mathcal{G}} \in \mathcal{G}, \ X_{\mathcal{B}} \in \mathcal{B}.$$
(3.5)

We equip $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ with the invariant, non-degenerate, symmetric bilinear form $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$, defined as the imaginary part of the complex Killing form $\langle -, - \rangle$ of $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$. The decomposition (3.4) represents a so-called Manin triple [27,49], since \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{B} are isotropic subalgebras of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ with respect to $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$.

Let $G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ be a connected and simply connected real Lie group whose Lie algebra is $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$, and denote G and B its connected subgroups associated with the Lie subalgebras \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{B} . These subgroups are simply connected and G is compact. Later we shall also need the connected subgroup $G_0^{\mathbb{C}} < G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ associated with $\mathcal{G}_0^{\mathbb{C}}$ as well as the subgroups $G_0 < G$ and $B_0 < B$ associated with \mathcal{G}_0 and $i\mathcal{G}_0$. Occasionally, we view $G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ as the realification of the corresponding complex Lie group, $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$. Now, we recall [48,49] that the group manifold

$$M := G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}} \tag{3.6}$$

carries the following two natural Poisson brackets:

$$\{F,H\}_{\pm} := \langle \nabla F, \rho \nabla H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} \pm \langle \nabla' F, \rho \nabla' H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} \quad \text{with} \quad \rho := \frac{1}{2} \left(\pi_{\mathcal{G}} - \pi_{\mathcal{B}} \right), \quad (3.7)$$

where $\pi_{\mathcal{G}}$ and $\pi_{\mathcal{B}}$ are the projections from $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ onto \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{B} , respectively, defined by means of (3.4). Here, we use the $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ -valued 'left and right derivatives' of $F, H \in C^{\infty}(M)$:

$$\langle X, \nabla F(K) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \langle X', \nabla' F(K) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} := \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} F\left(e^{tX} K e^{tX'}\right), \ \forall K \in M, \ X, X' \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}.$$

$$(3.8)$$

The minus bracket makes M into a Poisson–Lie group, of which G and B are Poisson–Lie subgroups. Their inherited Poisson brackets take the form

$$\{\varphi_1, \varphi_2\}_B(b) = \langle D'\varphi_1(b), b^{-1}(D\varphi_2(b))b\rangle_{\mathbb{I}},\tag{3.9}$$

and

$$\{f_1, f_2\}_G(g) = -\langle D'f_1(g), g^{-1}(Df_2(g))g\rangle_{\mathbb{I}}.$$
(3.10)

The derivatives are \mathcal{G} -valued for $\varphi_i \in C^{\infty}(B)$ and \mathcal{B} -valued for $f_i \in C^{\infty}(G)$, reflecting that these subalgebras are in duality with respect to $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$. To be sure, we write the definitions

$$\langle X, D\varphi(b)\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \langle X', D'\varphi(b)\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} := \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} \varphi\left(e^{tX}be^{tX'}\right), \ \forall b \in B, \ X, X' \in \mathcal{B},$$
(3.11)

$$\langle X, Df(g) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \langle X', D'f(g) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} := \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} f\left(e^{tX}ge^{tX'}\right), \ \forall g \in G, \ X, X' \in \mathcal{G},$$
(3.12)

where $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(B)$ and $f \in C^{\infty}(G)$. We shall also use the \mathcal{G} -valued derivatives of $f \in C^{\infty}(G)$,

$$\langle X, \nabla f(g) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + \langle X', \nabla' f(g) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} := \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} f(e^{tX}ge^{tX'}), \quad \forall g \in G, \ X, X' \in \mathcal{G},$$

$$(3.13)$$

and note that the Killing form $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$ of \mathcal{G} is the restriction to \mathcal{G} of the complex Killing form $\langle -, - \rangle$ of $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$. One has

$$\langle X, Y \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = \langle X, iY \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle X, (iY)_{\mathcal{B}} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}, \quad \forall X, Y \in \mathcal{G},$$
 (3.14)

and thus the two kinds of derivatives of $f \in C^{\infty}(G)$ are related by

$$Df = (i\nabla f)_{\mathcal{B}}.\tag{3.15}$$

Defining $R^{i} \in \text{End}(\mathcal{G})$ by

$$R^{i}(X) := (-iX)_{\mathcal{G}}, \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{G},$$
(3.16)

the relation of the derivatives can also be written as

$$Df = i\nabla f + R^{i}(\nabla f).$$
(3.17)

Of course, analogous relations hold for the right derivative D'f, too. With these relations at hand, one can prove the identity

$$-\langle D'f_1(g), g^{-1}Df_2(g)g\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle \nabla'f_1(g), R^i\nabla'f_2(g)\rangle_{\mathcal{G}} - \langle \nabla f_1(g), R^i\nabla f_2(g)\rangle_{\mathcal{G}}.$$
(3.18)

In terms of the decomposition $X = X_{>} + X_{0} + X_{<}$, one has

$$R^{i}(X) = i(X_{>} - X_{<}),$$
 (3.19)

and the right-hand side of (3.18) has the familiar form of a Sklyanin bracket.

The Poisson bracket $\{-,-\}_+$ (3.7) corresponds to a symplectic form [2], and $(M, \{-,-\}_+)$ is called [48] the Heisenberg double of the Poisson– Lie groups G and B. It is a Poisson–Lie analog² of the cotangent bundle T^*G (and of T^*B). Any element $K \in M$ admits unique (Iwasawa) decompositions [26] into products of elements of G and B, which we write as

$$K = g_L b_R^{-1} = b_L g_R^{-1} \quad \text{with} \quad g_L, g_R \in G, \ b_L, b_R \in B.$$
(3.20)

These decompositions give rise to the maps $\Xi_L, \Xi_R : M \to G$ and $\Lambda_L, \Lambda_R : M \to B$,

$$\Xi_L(K) := g_L, \quad \Xi_R(K) := g_R, \quad \Lambda_L(K) := b_L, \quad \Lambda_R(K) := b_R. \quad (3.21)$$

These are all Poisson maps from the $(M, \{-, -\}_+)$ onto the respective Poisson– Lie groups, and the same is true for the products of any two of these maps into the same group. Without going into details, we recall that any Poisson map into a Poisson–Lie group serves as a moment map that generates a (possibly only infinitesimal) Poisson–Lie action of the corresponding dual group [31]. In particular, the Poisson map $\Lambda: M \to B$ defined by

$$\Lambda(K) := \Lambda_L(K)\Lambda_R(K), \quad \forall K \in M,$$
(3.22)

generates the so-called quasi-adjoint action of G on the Heisenberg double. As was shown in [25], the corresponding action map, $\mathcal{A}^1: G \times M \to M$, is given by

$$\mathcal{A}^{1}(\eta, K) = \eta K \Xi_{R}(\eta \Lambda_{L}(K)), \qquad \forall \eta \in G, \, K \in M.$$
(3.23)

This is a Poisson map if $G \times M$ is equipped with the product Poisson bracket coming from $(G, \{-, -\}_G)$ and $(M, \{-, -\}_+)$. According to the general theory [48], the ring of *G*-invariant real functions, $C^{\infty}(M)^G$, forms a Poisson subalgebra of $(C^{\infty}(M), \{-, -\}_+)$, which is, by definition, the Poisson algebra of smooth functions on the quotient space M/G. Taking this quotient is an example of Poisson reduction. It is worth noting that $C^{\infty}(M)^G$ is nothing but the centralizer of $\Lambda^* C^{\infty}(B)$, i.e., $C^{\infty}(M)^G$ consists of those functions that Poisson commute with the functions depending only on the moment map Λ (3.22).

 $^{^{2}}$ The cotangent bundle of any Lie group can be viewed as the Heisenberg double of the group equipped with the identically zero Poisson bracket [48].

For the implementation of the Poisson reduction, an alternative model of the Heisenberg double will also prove convenient. This model, which is akin to a trivialization of the cotangent bundle T^*G , is the manifold

$$\mathfrak{M} := G \times B, \tag{3.24}$$

and we transfer the Poisson bracket from M to ${\mathfrak M}$ by means of the diffeomorphism

$$m: M \to \mathfrak{M}$$
 defined by $m:=(\Xi_R, \Lambda_R).$ (3.25)

Said more directly, the pair $(g_R, b_R) = m(K)$ is used as a new variable instead of $K \in M \equiv G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$. It is shown in Appendix B that the map m is a Poisson diffeomorphism if \mathfrak{M} is endowed with the following Poisson bracket:

$$\{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\}(g,b) = \left\langle D_2'\mathcal{F}, b^{-1}(D_2\mathcal{H})b \right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \left\langle D_1'\mathcal{F}, g^{-1}(D_1\mathcal{H})g \right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \left\langle D_1\mathcal{F}, D_2\mathcal{H} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \left\langle D_1\mathcal{H}, D_2\mathcal{F} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$$
(3.26)

for functions $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})$. The derivatives on the right-hand side are taken at $(g, b) \in G \times B$, with respect to the first and second variable, according to the definitions (3.12) and (3.11), respectively. In particular, $D_1 \mathcal{F}$ is \mathcal{B} -valued and $D_2 \mathcal{F}$ is \mathcal{G} -valued. An alternative form of (3.26) results by employing \mathcal{G} -valued derivatives with respect to the first variable, defined like in (3.13).

In terms of the model \mathfrak{M} , the quasi-adjoint action \mathcal{A}^1 (3.23) turns into $\mathcal{A}^2: G \times \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{M}$,

$$\mathcal{A}^{2}(\eta, (b,g)) = \left(\Xi_{R}(\eta b)^{-1}g\Xi_{R}(\eta b), \operatorname{Dress}_{\Xi_{R}(\eta b)^{-1}}(b)\right).$$
(3.27)

Here, we use the dressing action of G on B, defined by

$$Dress_{\eta}(b) := \Lambda_L(\eta b), \quad \forall \eta \in G, \ b \in B,$$
(3.28)

whose infinitesimal version reads

$$\operatorname{dress}_{X}(b) := \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} \operatorname{Dress}_{e^{tX}}(b) = b(b^{-1}Xb)_{\mathcal{B}}, \qquad \forall X \in \mathcal{G}, \qquad (3.29)$$

where the decomposition (3.5) is applied to $(b^{-1}Xb) \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$. The action \mathcal{A}^2 is related to \mathcal{A}^1 according to

$$\mathcal{A}^2_\eta \circ m = m \circ \mathcal{A}^1_\eta, \quad \forall \eta \in G, \tag{3.30}$$

where \mathcal{A}^i_{η} denotes the map of the relevant manifold obtained by fixing the first argument of \mathcal{A}^i . We observe that the *G*-action \mathcal{A}^2 (3.27) has the same orbits as the simpler action given by the map $\mathcal{A}: G \times \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{M}$:

$$\mathcal{A}(\eta, (g, b)) := (\eta g \eta^{-1}, \operatorname{Dress}_{\eta}(b)).$$
(3.31)

Since the orbits of \mathcal{A} are the same as those of the Poisson–Lie action \mathcal{A}^2 , these two *G*-actions share the same invariant functions, and thus are equivalent from the point of view of Poisson reduction.

The real Lie algebra $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ carries the Cartan involution, θ , that fixes \mathcal{G} pointwise and multiplies the elements of $i\mathcal{G}$ by -1. It lifts to a corresponding

involutive automorphism Θ of $G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$, of which $G < G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ is the fixed point set. Referring to (3.1), θ maps $\mathcal{G}_{>}^{\mathbb{C}}$ onto $\mathcal{G}_{<}^{\mathbb{C}}$. We shall use the notations

$$Z^{\tau} := -\theta(Z), \qquad K^{\tau} := \Theta(K^{-1}), \qquad \forall Z \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}, \ \forall K \in G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}.$$
 (3.32)

The maps $Z \mapsto Z^{\tau}$ and $K \mapsto K^{\tau}$ are anti-automorphisms satisfying

$$X^{\tau} = -X, \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{G} \quad \text{and} \quad K^{\tau} = K^{-1}, \quad \forall K \in G.$$
 (3.33)

This operation is often denoted simply by dagger, since for the classical Lie groups one can choose the conventions in such a way that $X^{\tau} = X^{\dagger}$ and $K^{\tau} = K^{\dagger}$ with dagger denoting the matrix adjoint [26]. Later we shall also need the closed submanifold

$$\mathfrak{P} := \exp(\mathrm{i}\mathcal{G}) \subset G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}},\tag{3.34}$$

which is diffeomorphic not only to \mathcal{G} but also to B. Note that \mathfrak{P} is a connected component of the fixed point set of the anti-automorphism $K \mapsto K^{\tau}$ of $G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$, and a diffeomorphism with B is provided by the map

$$\nu: B \to \mathfrak{P}, \quad \nu(b) := bb^{\tau}. \tag{3.35}$$

The map (3.35) intertwines the dressing action with the obvious conjugation action of G on \mathfrak{P} , since we have

$$\operatorname{Dress}_{\eta}(b)(\operatorname{Dress}_{\eta}(b))^{\tau} = \eta b b^{\tau} \eta^{-1}, \qquad \forall \eta \in G, \ b \in B.$$
(3.36)

This implies that any element of B can be transformed into $B_0 = \exp(i\mathcal{G}_0)$ by the dressing action. As an alternative to $G \times B$, one may also take $G \times \mathfrak{P}$ as a model of the Heisenberg double.

Remark 3.1. After small notational changes, all considerations of the paper apply to reductive compact Lie groups as well. For example, one can take $G = U(n), \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}} = \operatorname{gl}(n, \mathbb{C}), \text{ and } \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}} = \operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{C}), \text{ in which case } B$ can be taken to be the upper triangular subgroup whose diagonal elements are positive real numbers. Then, $K^{\tau} = K^{\dagger}$, and \mathfrak{P} is the space of positive definite, Hermitian matrices. The reader may keep this example (or the example of $G = \operatorname{SU}(n)$) in mind when reading the text. We restricted ourselves to simple Lie algebras just in order have a shorter presentation.

3.2. Two Degenerate Integrable Systems on the Heisenberg Double

Now, we present two degenerate integrable systems. For this, we let π_1 and π_2 be the projections from \mathfrak{M} onto G and B, respectively,

$$\pi_1: (g,b) \mapsto g, \quad \pi_2: (g,b) \mapsto b. \tag{3.37}$$

Then, consider the following families of functions on \mathfrak{M} ,

$$\pi_1^*(C^\infty(G)^G) \text{ and } \pi_2^*(C^\infty(B)^G),$$
 (3.38)

where the superscript refers to invariance with respect to the conjugation and dressing actions of G on G and on B, respectively. When presented in terms of the model M, these become

$$\Xi_R^*(C^\infty(G)^G) \quad \text{and} \quad \Lambda_R^*(C^\infty(B)^G), \tag{3.39}$$

since $\pi_1 \circ m = \Xi_R$ and $\pi_2 \circ m = \Lambda_R$. Both of these rings of functions have functional dimension $\ell = \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{G}) \equiv \dim(\mathcal{G}_0)$, since this true for $C^{\infty}(G)^G$ and for $C^{\infty}(B)^G$ (see Appendix A). All the Hamiltonians in (3.39) are invariant under the quasi-adjoint action of G on M, as is easily seen from Eqs. (3.27) and (3.30). In order to see that they yield two Abelian Poisson algebras and to identify their constants of motion, let us describe the flows generated by these Hamiltonians. For this, we notice from (3.7) that the Hamiltonian vector field belonging to $H \in C^{\infty}(M)$ generates the evolution equation

$$\dot{K} = \rho(\nabla H(K))K + K\rho(\nabla' H(K)).$$
(3.40)

Proposition 3.2. The Hamiltonian $H = \Lambda_R^* \phi$ with $\phi \in C^\infty(B)^G$ generates the following evolution equation on the Heisenberg double $M = G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ by means of the Poisson bracket $\{-, -\}_+$ (3.7),

$$\dot{K} = -KD\phi(b_R),\tag{3.41}$$

which in terms of the decompositions $K = b_L g_R^{-1} = g_L b_R^{-1}$ (3.20) gives

$$\dot{g}_R = D\phi(b_R)g_R, \quad \dot{b}_L = \dot{b}_R = 0, \quad \dot{g}_L = -g_L D'\phi(b_R).$$
 (3.42)

The solution K(t) corresponding to the initial value K(0) is provided by

$$K(t) = K(0) \exp\left(-tD\phi(b_R(0))\right), \qquad (3.43)$$

or equivalently

$$b_R(t) = b_R(0), \quad b_L(t) = b_L(0), \quad g_R(t) = \exp(tD\phi(b_R(0)))g_R(0),$$

$$g_L(t) = g_L(0)\exp(-tD'\phi(b_R(0))). \quad (3.44)$$

Proof. We begin by pointing out that $\phi \in C^{\infty}(B)^G$ satisfies

$$D\phi(b) = bD'\phi(b)b^{-1}, \qquad \forall b \in B.$$
(3.45)

For arbitrary $\phi \in C^{\infty}(B)$ one has $D\phi(b) = (bD'\phi(b)b^{-1})_{\mathcal{G}}$. By (3.29), the infinitesimal dressing invariance means that $\langle D'\phi(b), (b^{-1}Xb)_{\mathcal{B}}\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = 0$ for all $X \in \mathcal{G}$. This is equivalent to $(bD'\phi(b)b^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}} = 0$, which implies (3.45). By using Lemma B.2 in Appendix B, we then get

$$\nabla' H(K) = -D\phi(b_R), \qquad \nabla H(K) = -g_L D'\phi(b_R)g_L^{-1}, \qquad (3.46)$$

which are both \mathcal{G} -valued. Formula (3.41) follows by putting these derivatives into (3.40),

$$\dot{K} = -\frac{1}{2}(KD\phi(b_R) + g_L D'\phi(b_R)g_L^{-1}K) = -KD\phi(b_R), \qquad (3.47)$$

where we applied (3.45) and the decomposition $K = g_L b_R^{-1}$. By taking $K = b_L g_R^{-1}$ and using that $D\phi(b_R)$ is \mathcal{G} -valued, (3.41) implies $\dot{g}_R = D\phi(b_R)g_R$ and $\dot{b}_L = 0$. It follows that b_L remains constant. The moment map Λ (3.22) is also constant along the flow, for $H \in C^{\infty}(M)^G$, and therefore b_R stays constant as well. Hence, we obtain the formula for $g_R(t)$.

The formula for the time development of g_L then follows directly from (3.42), or alternatively from the identity $g_L = b_L g_R^{-1} b_R$. In detail,

$$g_L(t) = b_L(0)g_R(0)^{-1} \exp(-tD\phi(b_R(0)))b_R(0)$$

= $g_L(0)b_R(0)^{-1} \exp(-tD\phi(b_R(0)))b_R(0) = g_L(0)\exp(-tD'\phi(b_R(0))),$
(3.48)

where we took (3.45) into account. This also provides a consistency check on our calculations.

Since all smooth functions depending on b_L and b_R are constants of motion, we see in particular that the elements of $\Lambda_R^* C^\infty(B)^G$ Poisson commute.³ The number of independent constants of motion is $2 \dim(B) - \ell$. This is a consequence of the identity

$$b_L^{-1}(b_L^{-1})^{\tau} = g_R^{-1}(b_R b_R^{\tau})g_R \tag{3.49}$$

that leads to ℓ relations between the functions of b_R and b_L . We here used that G acts by conjugations on the model \mathfrak{P} of B (3.35), and thus

$$F(b_L^{-1}(b_L^{-1})^{\tau}) = F(b_R b_R^{\tau}), \quad \forall F \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{P})^G.$$
(3.50)

The ring $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{P})^G \simeq C^{\infty}(B)^G$ is generated by $\ell = \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{G})$ basic invariants, which equals the functional dimension of $\Lambda_R^* C^{\infty}(B)^G$ (3.39) as well. In conclusion, these Hamiltonians form a degenerate integrable system on M. Of course, the same is true for the equivalent Hamiltonians $\pi_2^* C^{\infty}(B)^G$ (3.38) on \mathfrak{M} .

Proposition 3.3. Consider the Hamiltonian $H = \Xi_R^* h$ with $h \in C^{\infty}(G)^G$. Then, the corresponding evolution equation reads

$$\dot{K} = KDh(g_R). \tag{3.51}$$

The constituents in the decompositions $K = b_L g_R^{-1} = g_L b_R^{-1}$ (3.20) satisfy

$$\dot{b}_R = -Dh(g_R)b_R, \quad \dot{b}_L = b_L Dh(g_R), \quad \dot{g}_L = 0, \quad \dot{g}_R = [(i\nabla h(g_R))_{\mathcal{G}}, g_R].$$
(3.52)

The solution can be written as

$$b_R(t) = \beta(t)^{-1} b_R(0), \quad b_L(t) = b_L(0)\beta(t), g_L(t) = g_L(0), \quad g_R(t) = \gamma(t)g_R(0)\gamma(t)^{-1},$$
(3.53)

where $\beta(t)$ and $\gamma(t)$ are determined by the following factorization problem in $G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$:

$$\exp(it\nabla h(g_R(0))) = \beta(t)\gamma(t) \quad with \quad \beta(t) \in B, \ \gamma(t) = G.$$
(3.54)

Equivalently to (3.53), we have $K(t) = K(0)\beta(t)$.

³Their property (3.45) implies that the dressing invariant functions, $C^{\infty}(B)^G$, form the center of the Poisson algebra $(C^{\infty}(B), \{-, -\}_B)$ (3.9).

Proof. Lemma B.2 now gives

$$\nabla H(K) = -b_L D' h(g_R) b_L^{-1}, \qquad \nabla' H(K) = -g_R D' h(g_R) g_R^{-1}. \quad (3.55)$$

Any function $h \in C^{\infty}(G)$ satisfies $Dh(g) = (gD'h(g)g^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}}$, and Dh(g) = D'h(g) holds for $h \in C^{\infty}(G)^{G}$. Thus, we get

$$\rho(\nabla' H(K)) = (g_R D' h(g_R) g_R^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}} - \frac{1}{2} g_R D' h(g_R) g_R^{-1}$$
$$= Dh(g_R) - \frac{1}{2} g_R Dh(g_R) g_R^{-1}, \qquad (3.56)$$

and $\rho(\nabla H(K)) = \frac{1}{2}b_L(Dh(g_R))b_L^{-1}$. Inserting these into (3.40) leads to (3.51):

$$\dot{K} = K(Dh(g_R) - \frac{1}{2}g_R Dh(g_R)g_R^{-1}) + \frac{1}{2}b_L(Dh(g_R))b_L^{-1}K = KDh(g_R),$$
(3.57)

where the last equality relies on writing $K = b_L g_R^{-1}$. Since $Dh(g_R) \in \mathcal{B}$, (3.51) implies that $\dot{b}_R = -Dh(g_R)b_R$ and $\dot{g}_L = 0$. Then, $\dot{b}_L = b_L Dh(g_R)$ follows, because Λ (3.22) Poisson commutes with any $H \in C^{\infty}(M)^G$. Due to (3.15),

$$i\nabla h(g_R) = Dh(g_R) + (i\nabla h(g_R))_{\mathcal{G}}, \qquad (3.58)$$

and $[g_R, i\nabla h(g_R)] = 0$ because of the invariance property of h. By using these relations, the formula for \dot{g}_R is derived from

$$g_R = b_R g_L^{-1} b_L. (3.59)$$

Turning to the solution, we first note that the curve $(g_R(t), b_R(t))$ defined by (3.53) satisfies the differential equations

$$\dot{g}_{R}(t) = [\dot{\gamma}(t)\gamma(t)^{-1}, g_{R}(t)],
\dot{b}_{R}(t) = -\beta(t)^{-1}\dot{\beta}(t)b_{R}(t).$$
(3.60)

Moreover, the equality (4) implies

$$\beta(t)\gamma(t)\mathrm{i}\nabla h(g_R(0)) = \dot{\beta}(t)\gamma(t) + \beta(t)\dot{\gamma}(t).$$
(3.61)

From here, we get

$$i\nabla h(g_R(t)) = i\gamma(t)\nabla h(g_R(0))\gamma(t)^{-1} = \beta(t)^{-1}\dot{\beta}(t) + \dot{\gamma}(t)\gamma(t)^{-1}, \quad (3.62)$$

where first equality holds because of the G-invariance of h. We see from (3.62) that

$$\beta(t)^{-1}\dot{\beta}(t) = (i\nabla h(g_R(t)))_{\mathcal{B}} \quad \text{and} \quad \dot{\gamma}(t)\gamma(t)^{-1} = (i\nabla h(g_R(t)))_{\mathcal{G}}.$$
 (3.63)

Inserting these relations into (3.60), we obtain

$$b_R(t) = (-i\nabla h(g_R(t)))_{\mathcal{B}} b_R(t),$$

$$\dot{g}_R(t) = [(i\nabla h(g_R(t)))_{\mathcal{G}}, g_R(t)].$$
(3.64)

Since $(i\nabla h(g_R))_{\mathcal{B}} = Dh(g_R)$, comparison with (3.52) shows that the proof is complete.

It is clear that $\Xi_R^* C^{\infty}(G)^G$ is generated by $\ell = \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{G})$ functionally independent Hamiltonians, which are in involution, since they remain constant along the flows (3.53). To show their degenerate integrability, we observe that any smooth real function of

$$W(K) := b_L b_R g_L^{-1} = b_L g_R b_L^{-1} \tag{3.65}$$

is a constant of motion. Indeed, $\Lambda(K) = b_L b_R$ and $\Xi_L(K) = g_L$ are both constants of motion by (3.52). We see from (3.65) that the set of the elements W(K) is the union of those conjugacy classes in $G^{\mathbb{C}}$ that have representatives in $G_0 < G$. Generically, the elements of this set can be parametrized by $(N-\ell)$ real variables, where $N = 2 \dim(\mathcal{G})$ is the dimension of the Heisenberg double. This holds since the generic elements of $G_0 < G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ are fixed precisely by $G_0^{\mathbb{C}}$ with respect to conjugations. It follows that the functional dimension of the ring of joint constants of motion of the Hamiltonians belonging to $\Xi_R^* C^{\infty}(G)^G$ is $(N - \ell)$, and thus these Hamiltonians form a degenerate integrable system.

Remark 3.4. It is a simple exercise to re-derive the evolution equations for the variables $(g_R, b_R) = m(K)$ working directly with $(\mathfrak{M}, \{-, -\})$ (3.26). In the above, we have chosen to use the model $(M, \{-, -\}_+)$ of the Heisenberg double since we wished to present the time development of all constituents that enter $K = g_L b_R^{-1} = b_L g_R^{-1}$. However, the model $(\mathfrak{M}, \{-, -\})$ will prove more convenient in what follows.

3.3. Deformation of Spin Sutherland Models from Poisson Reduction

Now, we consider Poisson reduction based on the *G*-action \mathcal{A} (3.31) on \mathfrak{M} (3.24). This means that we keep only the *G*-invariant functions, and characterize their Poisson brackets by restriction to a convenient gauge slice.

We denote by $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})^G$ the ring of invariant functions. Any $\mathcal{F} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})^G$ satisfies the identity

$$D_1\mathcal{F}(g,b) - D'_1\mathcal{F}(g,b) + (bD'_2\mathcal{F}(g,b)b^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}} = 0, \quad \forall (g,b) \in \mathfrak{M}, \quad (3.66)$$

as follows by the taking derivative of $\mathcal{F} \circ \mathcal{A}_{e^{tX}} = \mathcal{F}$ with respect to t, for every $X \in \mathcal{G}$. Here, we utilized the decomposition (3.4), but below we shall also use the alternative decomposition

$$\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}} = \mathcal{G}_0^{\mathbb{C}} + \mathcal{G}_{\perp}^{\mathbb{C}}, \mathcal{G}_{\perp}^{\mathbb{C}} \equiv \mathcal{G}_{<}^{\mathbb{C}} + \mathcal{G}_{>}^{\mathbb{C}}, \qquad (3.67)$$

whereby we may write

$$X = X_0 + X_\perp, \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}.$$
(3.68)

Consider the connected subgroup $G_0^{\mathbb{C}} < G^{\mathbb{C}}$ corresponding to $\mathcal{G}_0^{\mathbb{C}}$. By definition, the subset $G_{0,\mathrm{reg}}^{\mathbb{C}} \subset G_0^{\mathbb{C}}$ consists of those $g_0 \in G_0^{\mathbb{C}}$ for which $\mathrm{Ad}_{g_0} \in \mathrm{End}(\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}})$ is invertible on $\mathcal{G}_{\perp}^{\mathbb{C}}$. It is clear that $G_0^{\mathrm{reg}} \subset G_{0,\mathrm{reg}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ and for any $g_0 \in G_{0,\mathrm{reg}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ we extend the definition (2.22) by putting

$$\mathcal{R}(g_0)(X) = \frac{1}{2} (\mathrm{Ad}_{g_0} + \mathrm{id}) \circ (\mathrm{Ad}_{g_0} - \mathrm{id})^{-1}_{|\mathcal{G}_{\perp}^{\mathbb{C}}}(X_{\perp}), \forall g_0 \in G_{0,\mathrm{reg}}^{\mathbb{C}}, \ X \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}.$$
(3.69)

We introduce the following subsets of \mathfrak{M} (3.24),

$$\mathfrak{M}^{\mathrm{reg}} := \{ (g, b) \in \mathfrak{M} \mid g \in G^{\mathrm{reg}} \}, \quad \mathfrak{M}_0^{\mathrm{reg}} := \{ (Q, b) \in \mathfrak{M} \mid Q \in G_0^{\mathrm{reg}} \},$$
(3.70)

and observe that the restriction of functions provides an isomorphism

$$C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}^{\mathrm{reg}})^G \iff C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}_0^{\mathrm{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}},$$
 (3.71)

using the normalizer \mathfrak{N} (2.17). For any $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}})$, we introduce the derivative $D_{1}F(Q, b) \in \mathcal{B}_{0}$ by

$$\langle D_1 F(Q,b), X_0 \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} F(e^{tX_0}Q, b), \qquad \forall X_0 \in \mathcal{G}_0.$$
(3.72)

The \mathcal{G} -valued derivatives D_2F and D'_2F are determined analogously to (3.11).

Theorem 3.5. Let $F, H \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}_{0}^{reg})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ be the restrictions of $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}^{reg})^{G}$, and define

$$\{F, H\}_{red}(Q, b) := \{\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H}\}(Q, b).$$
 (3.73)

Then, Eq. (3.26) leads to the following formula of the reduced Poisson bracket: $\{F, H\}_{red}(Q, b) = \langle D_1 F, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \langle D_1 H, D_2 F \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \langle \mathcal{R}(Q)(bD'_2 H b^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}}, D_2 F \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \langle \mathcal{R}(Q)(bD'_2 F b^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}}, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}, \qquad (3.74)$

where the subscript \mathcal{B} refers to (3.4), the derivatives are taken at (Q, b), and $\mathcal{R}(Q)$ is given by (3.69).

Proof. At any
$$(Q, b) \in \mathfrak{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$$
, we have
 $D'_2 \mathcal{F}(Q, b) = D'_2 F(Q, b), \quad (D_1 \mathcal{F}(Q, b))_0 = (D'_1 \mathcal{F}(Q, b))_0 = D_1 F(Q, b),$
(3.75)

where we use the decomposition (3.1). Then, the identity (3.66) implies that

$$(bD'_2\mathcal{F}b^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}_0} = 0, \quad \text{with} \quad \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{B}_0 + \mathcal{B}_>,$$

$$(3.76)$$

and

$$(\mathrm{Ad}_{Q^{-1}} - \mathrm{id})D_1\mathcal{F}(Q, b)_> = (bD'_2F(Q, b)b^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}}.$$
 (3.77)

This is solved by

$$(D_1 \mathcal{F}(Q, b))_{>} = -\left(\frac{1}{2} \mathrm{id} + \mathcal{R}(Q)\right) (bD'_2 F(Q, b)b^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}},$$
 (3.78)

where we use the triangular decomposition (3.1).

We have to substitute the above relations into

$$\{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\}(Q,b) = \left\langle D_2'\mathcal{F}, b^{-1}(D_2\mathcal{H})b\right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \left\langle D_1\mathcal{F}, D_2\mathcal{H}\right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \left\langle D_1\mathcal{H}, D_2\mathcal{F}\right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}},$$
(3.79)

L. Fehér

which is obtained from (3.26) by noting that $\langle D'_1 \mathcal{F}, Q^{-1}(D_1 \mathcal{H})Q \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = 0$ since $\operatorname{Ad}_{Q^{-1}}$ maps \mathcal{B} to \mathcal{B} . At (Q, b), because the Poisson bracket is antisymmetric,

$$\left\langle D_{2}^{\prime}\mathcal{F}, b^{-1}(D_{2}\mathcal{H})b\right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle (bD_{2}^{\prime}Fb^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}}, D_{2}H\right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \frac{1}{2} \left\langle (bD_{2}^{\prime}Hb^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}}, D_{2}F\right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}}. (3.80)$$

On the other hand, we get

$$\left\langle D_1 \mathcal{F}, D_2 \mathcal{H} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \left\langle D_1 F - \left(\frac{1}{2} \mathrm{id} + \mathcal{R}(Q)\right) (b D_2' F(Q, b) b^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}}, D_2 H \right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}},$$
(3.81)

and similar for $\langle D_1 \mathcal{H}, D_2 \mathcal{F} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$. The sum of these expressions gives us formula (3.74).

Remark 3.6. Analogous to the reduced Poisson brackets (2.29) presented in Sect. 2, formula (3.74) defines a Poisson algebra structure not only on $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$, but on the larger ring $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}})^{G_{0}}$ as well.

Now, we deal with the reduction of the dynamics induced by the Hamiltonians in $\pi_2^*(C^{\infty}(B)^G)$. The projection of the Hamiltonian vector field of $\mathcal{H} = \pi_2^* \phi$ on the quotient space $\mathfrak{M}^{\mathrm{reg}}/G$ descends also from the evolution vector field living on $\mathfrak{M}_0^{\mathrm{reg}}$ that is described below. This represents an intermediate step between the dynamics on $\mathfrak{M}^{\mathrm{reg}}$ and on $\mathfrak{M}^{\mathrm{reg}}/G$.

Proposition 3.7. If $\mathcal{H} = \pi_2^* \phi$ with $\phi \in C^{\infty}(B)^G$, i.e., $\mathcal{H}(g,b) = \phi(b)$, then formula (3.74) of the reduced Poisson bracket simplifies to

$$\{F,H\}_{red}(Q,b) = \langle D_1F(Q,b), D\phi(b)\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \langle D'_2F(Q,b), \left(b^{-1}(\mathcal{R}(Q)D\phi(b))b\right)_{\mathcal{B}}\rangle_{\mathbb{I}},$$
(3.82)

and the corresponding reduced evolution equation on \mathfrak{M}_0^{reg} can be taken to be

$$\dot{Q} = (D\phi(b))_0 Q, \qquad \dot{b} = b \left(b^{-1} (\mathcal{R}(Q) D\phi(b)) b \right)_{\mathcal{B}}.$$
(3.83)

Proof. For the restriction H of \mathcal{H} on $\mathfrak{M}_0^{\mathrm{reg}}$, we get

$$(bD'_{2}H(Q,b)b^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}} = (bD'\phi(b)b^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}} = 0, \qquad (3.84)$$

because $\phi \in C^{\infty}(B)^G$, as was noted before (3.45). Moreover, we have $D_1H(Q, b) = 0$ and, due to the antisymmetry of $\mathcal{R}(Q)$,

$$\langle \mathcal{R}(Q)(bD_2'Fb^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}}, D_2H\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = -\langle D_2'F(Q,b), \left(b^{-1}(\mathcal{R}(Q)D\phi(b))b\right)_{\mathcal{B}}\rangle_{\mathbb{I}}.$$
(3.85)

Thus, we obtain (3.82) from (3.74). Then, we see that the derivative of F given by $\{F, H\}_{\text{red}}$ coincides with the derivative along the integral curves of the evolution equation (3.83), which is the very justification of this equation. Of course, the evolution equation on $\mathfrak{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$ can be changed by adding any vector field that vanishes upon projection on $\mathfrak{M}^{\text{reg}}/G \simeq \mathfrak{M}_0^{\text{reg}}/\mathfrak{N}$.

Let us recall that the manifold \mathfrak{P} (3.34) can serve as a model of B by means of the diffeomorphism ν (3.35). For any function ϕ on B we introduce the corresponding function $\tilde{\phi}$ on \mathfrak{P} by the definition

$$\tilde{\phi}(L) = \phi(b)$$
 with $L := \nu(b) = bb^{\tau}$. (3.86)

Then, we define the derivative $\mathcal{D}\tilde{\phi}(L) \in \mathcal{G}$ by

$$\langle \mathcal{D}\tilde{\phi}(L), X \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} \tilde{\phi}(e^{tX}Le^{tX^{\tau}}), \qquad \forall X \in \mathcal{B},$$
 (3.87)

where used the notation (3.32). This implies the equality

$$\mathcal{D}\tilde{\phi}(L) = D\phi(b) \quad \text{for} \quad L = bb^{\tau}.$$
 (3.88)

Proposition 3.8. In terms of the variables $(Q, L) \in G_0^{reg} \times \mathfrak{P}$ introduced in (3.86), the reduced evolution equation (3.83) takes the form

$$\dot{Q} = (\mathcal{D}\tilde{\phi}(L))_0 Q, \qquad \dot{L} = [\mathcal{R}(Q)(\mathcal{D}\tilde{\phi}(L)), L], \qquad (3.89)$$

which generalize the spin Sutherland evolution equation (2.36).

Proof. Let us put $X := \mathcal{R}(Q)(\mathcal{D}\tilde{\phi}(L))$, which belongs to \mathcal{G} , and note that

$$(b^{-1}(\mathcal{R}(Q)D\phi(b))b)_{\mathcal{B}} = b^{-1}Xb - (b^{-1}Xb)_{\mathcal{G}}.$$
 (3.90)

Then, starting from (3.83), we get

$$\dot{L} = \dot{b}b^{\tau} + b\dot{b}^{\tau} = Xbb^{\tau} - b(b^{-1}Xb)_{\mathcal{G}}b^{\tau} + b(b^{\tau}X^{\tau} - ((b^{-1}Xb)_{\mathcal{G}})^{\tau}b^{\tau}) = [X, L],$$
(3.91)

because $Y^{\tau} = -Y$ for all $Y \in \mathcal{G}$.

It is an interesting exercise to recast the Poisson bracket (3.26) and its reduced version (3.79) in terms of the models $G \times \mathfrak{P}$ and $G_0^{\text{reg}} \times \mathfrak{P}$ of \mathfrak{M} and $\mathfrak{M}_0^{\text{reg}}$.

3.3.1. Reduced Integrability and Interpretation as Deformed Spin Sutherland Models. Let us define the smooth, *G*-equivariant map $\Psi_3 : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{P} \times \mathfrak{P}$ by

$$\Psi_3(g,b) := (\tilde{L},L) \text{ with } L = bb^{\dagger} \text{ and } \tilde{L} := g^{-1}Lg, \qquad (3.92)$$

where $\eta \in G$ acts on $\mathfrak{P} \times \mathfrak{P}$ by conjugating both components of $(a, b) \in \mathfrak{P} \times \mathfrak{P}$. Then, for any function $\chi \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{P} \times \mathfrak{P})^G$, $\Psi_3^*(\chi) \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})^G$ gives a smooth, *G*-invariant constant of motion. Recalling that $\mathfrak{P} = \exp(\mathrm{i}\mathcal{G})$, we see the close analogy with the constants of motion observed in the cotangent bundle case (cf. Eq. (2.38)). Thus, degenerate integrability on generic symplectic leaves of \mathfrak{M}/G should hold in our present case as well. We do not repeat the arguments of Sect. 2.1, only make two remarks. First, $\ell = \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{G})$ Casimir functions on \mathfrak{M}/G arise from the functions of the form $\phi \circ \Lambda \circ m^{-1}$, where $m : M \to \mathfrak{M}$ is given in (3.25), $\Lambda : M \to B$ is the moment map (3.22), and $\phi \in C^{\infty}(B)^G$. Second, $\pi_2^*(C^{\infty}(B)^G)$ gives rise to ℓ generically independent Hamiltonians on \mathfrak{M}/G . These Hamiltonians are the *G*-invariant functions of *L*, and they generically remain independent after fixing the just mentioned Casimir functions.

Let us consider a dressing orbit \mathcal{O}_B of G in B, i.e., a symplectic leaf in the Poisson–Lie group B. It is known from general theory [27,31,49] that the quotient spaces $\Lambda^{-1}(\mathcal{O}_B)/G$ are Poisson subspaces of $M/G \simeq \mathfrak{M}/G$. (They are stratified symplectic spaces in general, which are unions of a dense open symplectic leaf and lower-dimensional strata [38,50,51]). By using the Poisson– Lie version of symplectic reduction, we developed a detailed description of these subspaces in [12]. Now, we translate the result into our present Poisson reduction setting.

Let G_0^o be an arbitrarily chosen connected⁴ component of G_0^{reg} . Denote by $B_>$ the maximal nilpotent subgroup of B associated with the subalgebra $\mathcal{B}_> = \mathcal{B} \cap \mathcal{G}_>^{\mathbb{C}}$ (3.3), and consider also $B_0 := \{e^p \mid p \in i\mathcal{G}_0\}$. For arbitrarily given $Q \in G_0^o$ and $S_+ \in B_>$, the equation

$$Q^{-1}b_{+}^{-1}Qb_{+}S_{+} = \mathbf{1}_{B} \tag{3.93}$$

admits a unique solution for $b_+ \in B_>$, which defines the function $b_+(Q, S_+)$. Then, all the elements $(Q, b) \in \mathfrak{M}_0^{\mathrm{reg}}$ with $Q \in G_0^o$ can be uniquely written in the form

$$b = e^p b_+(Q, S_+) \quad \text{with} \quad (Q, p, S_+) \in G_0^o \times \mathbf{i}\mathcal{G}_0 \times B_>, \tag{3.94}$$

and this induces the identification

$$\mathfrak{M}^{\mathrm{red}}/G \simeq \mathfrak{M}_0^{\mathrm{reg}}/\mathfrak{N} \simeq G_0^o \times \mathrm{i}\mathcal{G}_0 \times (B_>/G_0).$$
 (3.95)

In this parametrization of the Poisson quotient, the components of q in $Q = e^{iq}$ and p form canonically conjugate pairs, and $S_+ \in B_>$ is a 'collective spin degree of freedom' that decouples from q and p under the reduced Poisson bracket. The space $B_>/G_0$ represents the reduction of B with respect to $G_0 < G$, at the zero value of the classical moment map that generates the conjugation action of G_0 on B. The 'main reduced Hamiltonians' are obtained by taking the trace of

$$L(Q, p, S_{+}) = e^{p}b_{+}(Q, S_{+})b_{+}(Q, S_{+})^{\tau}e^{p}$$
(3.96)

in the fundamental irreducible representations of $G^{\mathbb{C}}$. In [12], the structure of $b_+(Q, S_+)$ was elaborated (for G = U(n) even its fully explicit formula was given), and by using this it was shown that the Lax matrices $L(Q, p, S_+)$ and the main Hamiltonians of the models at issue are deformations of the Lax matrices (1.9) and main Hamiltonians of the spin Sutherland models (2.37). For the details of these results, one can consult [12].

3.4. The Duals of the Deformed Spin Sutherland Models

Now, we describe the reduction of the integrable system of Proposition 3.3 by utilizing that any element of B can be transformed into the subgroup $B_0 = B \cap G_0^{\mathbb{C}}$ by the dressing action of G.

Let us introduce

$$B_0^{\operatorname{reg}} := B_0 \cap G_{0,\operatorname{reg}}^{\mathbb{C}} \tag{3.97}$$

⁴The closure of G_0^o in G_0 is homeomorphic to the space of conjugacy classes of G, and is also homeomorphic to a convex polytope in \mathcal{G}_0 , a so-called Weyl alcove [9].

and denote by B^{reg} the union of the *G*-orbits in *B* that intersect B_0^{reg} . Then, define

$$\mathfrak{M}'^{\operatorname{reg}} := \{ (g, b) \in \mathfrak{M} \mid b \in B^{\operatorname{reg}} \}, \quad \mathfrak{M}'_0^{\operatorname{reg}} := \{ (g, \Gamma) \in \mathfrak{M} \mid \Gamma \in B_0^{\operatorname{reg}} \}.$$
(3.98)

We remark that all powers of $\Gamma \in B_0^{\text{reg}}$ belong to B_0^{reg} . Similarly to (3.71), the restriction of functions provides the isomorphism

$$C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}^{\prime \mathrm{reg}})^G \iff C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}^{\prime \mathrm{reg}}_0)^{\mathfrak{N}}.$$
 (3.99)

Our aim is to find the formula for the Poisson bracket on $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}'_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ induced by this isomorphism. The derivation follows the steps of the previous section, but it is slightly more complicated. In preparation, we introduce $\varrho(\Gamma) \in \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}})$ by

$$\varrho(\Gamma)(X) = (\sinh \operatorname{ad}_{\gamma})^{-1}(X_{\perp}), \qquad \forall \Gamma = e^{\gamma} \in B_0^{\operatorname{reg}}, \ X = (X_0 + X_{\perp}) \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}.$$
(3.100)

This is well-defined⁵ due to the definition of B_0^{reg} . Note that $\rho(\Gamma)$ vanishes on $\mathcal{G}_0^{\mathbb{C}}$ and it maps $\mathcal{B}_>$ to itself. Below, we shall apply the operator $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)$ (3.69), which can also be written as

$$\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)(X) = \frac{1}{2}(\coth \operatorname{ad}_{\gamma})(X_{\perp}).$$
(3.101)

For any $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}_{0}^{reg})$, the derivative $D_{2}F(g,\Gamma) \in \mathcal{G}_{0}$ is determined by

$$\langle D_2 F(g,\Gamma), X_0 \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} F(g, e^{tX_0}\Gamma), \quad \forall X_0 \in \mathcal{B}_0, \quad (3.102)$$

and the \mathcal{B} -valued derivatives D_1F and D'_1F are determined analogously to (3.12).

Let $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}'_{0}^{\mathrm{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ be the restriction of $\mathcal{F} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}'^{\mathrm{reg}})^{G}$. Then, we obviously have

$$D_1 \mathcal{F}(g, \Gamma) = D_1 F(g, \Gamma), \quad D'_1 \mathcal{F}(g, \Gamma) = D'_1 F(g, \Gamma), D_2 \mathcal{F}(g, \Gamma)_0 = D'_2 \mathcal{F}(g, \Gamma)_0 = D_2 F(g, \Gamma),$$
(3.103)

and the residual G_0 -invariance of F implies

$$D_1 F(g, \Gamma)_0 = D'_1 F(g, \Gamma)_0.$$
(3.104)

The full expression of $D_2\mathcal{F}(g,\Gamma)$ through the derivatives of F is given by the next lemma.

Lemma 3.9. Let $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}'_{0}^{reg})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ be the restriction of $\mathcal{F} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}'^{reg})^{G}$. At any fixed $(g, \Gamma) \in \mathfrak{M}'_{0}^{reg}$, put

$$X_0 := D_2 F \in \mathcal{G}_0, \quad Y := (D'_1 F - D_1 F) \in \mathcal{B}_>.$$
 (3.105)

Then, the invariance condition (3.66) reads

$$(\Gamma D_2' \mathcal{F} \Gamma^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}} = Y, \qquad (3.106)$$

⁵In fact, $\mathcal{G}_{\perp}^{\mathbb{C}}$ is spanned by the root vectors E_{α} and $\alpha(\gamma)$ is a nonzero real number for $e^{\gamma} \in B_{\alpha}^{\text{reg}}$. See Appendix A.

and this implies the formula

$$D'_{2}\mathcal{F} = X_{0} + \frac{1}{2}\varrho(\Gamma)(Y + Y^{\tau}).$$
 (3.107)

Furthermore, we have

$$\Gamma \mathcal{D}_{2}^{\prime} \mathcal{F} \Gamma^{-1} = X_{0} + \frac{1}{2} (Y + Y^{\tau}) + \mathcal{R} (\Gamma^{2}) (Y + Y^{\tau}), \qquad (3.108)$$

and

$$D_2 \mathcal{F} \equiv (\Gamma D'_2 \mathcal{F} \Gamma^{-1})_{\mathcal{G}} = X_0 + \frac{1}{2} (Y^{\tau} - Y) + \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2) (Y + Y^{\tau}). \quad (3.109)$$

Here, $\Gamma = e^{\gamma} \in B_0^{reg}$ and the operators (3.100), (3.101) are employed. For the definition of Y^{τ} , see Eq. (3.32) and Appendix A.

Proof. Let us note that any $V \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$ can be decomposed as

$$V = V_{>} + V_{0} + V_{<} = V_{>} + V_{0}^{i} + V_{0}^{r} + V_{<}, \quad V_{0}^{i} \in \mathcal{G}_{0}, \ V_{0}^{r} \in \mathcal{B}_{0}, \ (3.110)$$

and then

$$V_{\mathcal{B}} = V_{>} + (V_{<})^{\tau} + V_{0}^{\mathrm{r}}, \qquad V_{\mathcal{G}} = V_{0}^{\mathrm{i}} + V_{<} - (V_{<})^{\tau}.$$
 (3.111)

According to (3.106), we need to solve an equation of the form

$$(\Gamma X \Gamma^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}} = Y \tag{3.112}$$

for X, where $Y = Y_{>} \in \mathcal{B}_{>}$ and $X = (X_{>} + X_{<} + X_{0}^{i}) \in \mathcal{G}$. By using that $\Gamma^{\tau} = \Gamma$ and $X_{>} = -(X_{<})^{\tau}$, we get

$$(\Gamma X \Gamma^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}} = X_0^{i} + \Gamma X_{>} \Gamma^{-1} - \Gamma^{-1} X_{>} \Gamma = X_0^{i} + 2(\sinh \operatorname{ad}_{\gamma})(X_{>}). \quad (3.113)$$

From here, we get

$$X_{>} = \frac{1}{2}\varrho(\Gamma)(Y). \tag{3.114}$$

Since $X_{\leq} = -(X_{\geq})^{\tau}$ and $(\mathrm{ad}_{\gamma}V)^{\tau} = -\mathrm{ad}_{\gamma}V^{\tau}$ for all $V \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$, this implies

$$X = X_0^{i} + \frac{1}{2}\rho(\Gamma)(Y + Y^{\tau}).$$
(3.115)

Then, we find

$$\Gamma X \Gamma^{-1} = (\sinh \operatorname{ad}_{\gamma} + \cosh \operatorname{ad}_{\gamma})(X) = X_0^{i} + \frac{1}{2}(Y + Y^{\tau}) + \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)(Y + Y^{\tau}).$$
(3.116)

Notice that $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)(Y+Y^{\tau}) \in \mathcal{G}$. Consequently, by applying (3.111) to $(Y+Y^{\tau})$ with $Y = Y_>$, we obtain

$$(\Gamma X \Gamma^{-1})_{\mathcal{G}} = X_0^{\rm i} + \frac{1}{2} (Y^{\tau} - Y) + \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2) (Y + Y^{\tau}).$$
(3.117)

By taking $X = \mathcal{D}'_2 \mathcal{F}(g, \Gamma)$, the proof is finished.

L. Fehér

Let us recall that the functions f on G have the \mathcal{G} -valued derivatives ∇f and $\nabla' f$ defined in (3.13), and (as seen from (3.17)) these are related to the \mathcal{B} -valued derivatives Df and D'f by

$$i\nabla f(g) = \frac{1}{2} \Big(Df(g) + (Df(g))^{\tau}), \quad i\nabla' f(g) = \frac{1}{2} (D'f(g) + (D'f(g))^{\tau} \Big).$$
(3.118)

In consequence of (3.16) and (3.17), one also has

$$R^{\mathbf{i}}\nabla f(g) = \left(-\mathbf{i}\nabla f(g)\right)_{\mathcal{G}} = \frac{1}{2}(Df(g) - (Df(g))^{\tau}),$$
$$R^{\mathbf{i}}\nabla' f(g) = \left(-\mathbf{i}\nabla' f(g)\right)_{\mathcal{G}} = \frac{1}{2}(D'f(g) - (D'f(g))^{\tau}).$$
(3.119)

These relations are applied below to functions on $\mathfrak{M}'_0^{\mathrm{reg}} = G \times B_0^{\mathrm{reg}}$, regarding the derivatives with respect to the first variable.

Theorem 3.10. Let $F, H \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}'_{0}^{reg})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ be the restrictions of the functions $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}'^{reg})^{G}$, respectively, and define

$$\{F,H\}'_{red}(g,\Gamma) := \{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\}(g,\Gamma), \qquad \forall (g,\Gamma) \in \mathfrak{M}'_0^{reg}.$$
(3.120)

Then, Eq. (3.26) implies the following formula for this reduced Poisson bracket:

$$\{F, H\}'_{red}(g, \Gamma) = \langle \nabla_1 F, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} - \langle \nabla_1 H, D_2 F \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} + 2 \langle \nabla_1' F, \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2) (i \nabla_1' H) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} - 2 \langle \nabla_1 F, \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2) (i \nabla_1 H) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}},$$

$$(3.121)$$

where $\nabla_1 F$ and $\nabla_1 H$ denote the *G*-valued derivatives defined similarly to (3.13), and $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)$ (3.101) is used.

Proof. We have to evaluate formula (3.26) at $(g, \Gamma) \in G \times B_0^{\text{reg}}$ for invariant functions. By using the equalities (3.103) and Lemma 3.9, we find

$$\langle D_{1}\mathcal{F}, D_{2}\mathcal{H} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \langle D_{1}\mathcal{H}, D_{2}\mathcal{F} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle D_{1}F, D_{2}H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \langle D_{1}H, D_{2}F \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$$

$$+ \langle D_{1}F, \left(\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^{2}) + \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{id}\right) (D_{1}'H - D_{1}H)^{\tau} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$$

$$- \langle D_{1}H, \left(\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^{2}) + \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{id}\right) (D_{1}'F - D_{1}F)^{\tau} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}.$$

$$(3.122)$$

We took into account that $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)$ maps \mathcal{B} to itself and that $\langle X, Y \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = 0$ for any $X, Y \in \mathcal{B}$. Next, direct substitution gives

$$\langle \Gamma D_2' \mathcal{F} \Gamma^{-1}, D_2 \mathcal{H} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle D_1' F - D_1 F, \left(\mathcal{R} (\Gamma^2) + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{id} \right) (D_1' H - D_1 H)^{\tau} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}.$$
(3.123)

We now collect terms, and in doing so employ the antisymmetry of $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)$ together with the properties

$$\langle U^{\tau}, V^{\tau} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = -\langle U, V \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}, \, \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)(U^{\tau}) = -(\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)U)^{\tau}, \, \forall U, V \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}, \quad (3.124)$$

which follow from the definitions. This gives

$$\begin{split} \langle D_{1}\mathcal{F}, D_{2}\mathcal{H} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} &- \langle D_{1}\mathcal{H}, D_{2}\mathcal{F} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \langle \Gamma D_{2}^{\prime}\mathcal{F}\Gamma^{-1}, D_{2}\mathcal{H} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} \\ &= \langle D_{1}F, D_{2}H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \langle D_{1}H, D_{2}F \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} \\ &+ \langle D_{1}^{\prime}F, \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^{2})(D_{1}^{\prime}H)^{\tau} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \langle D_{1}F, \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^{2})(D_{1}H)^{\tau} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \langle D_{1}^{\prime}F, (D_{1}^{\prime}H)^{\tau} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \frac{1}{2} \langle D_{1}F, (D_{1}H)^{\tau} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}. \end{split}$$
(3.125)

Since $D_2H \in \mathcal{G}_0$, we have

$$\langle D_1 F, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle (D_1 F)_0, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle \mathbf{i} (\nabla_1 F)_0, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle \nabla_1 F, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}.$$
(3.126)

Referring (3.119), we can write

$$\langle D'_1 F, \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2) (D'_1 H)^\tau \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle D'_1 F, \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2) ((D'_1 H)^\tau + D'_1 H) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$$

= $2 \langle \nabla'_1 F, \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2) (i \nabla'_1 H) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}},$ (3.127)

where the last step holds since $\langle D'_1F, X\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle \nabla'_1F, X\rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$ for all $X \in \mathcal{G}$, and $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)(iX) \in \mathcal{G}$ for all $X \in \mathcal{G}$. Therefore, the first 4 terms of (3.125) yield the right-hand side of (3.121). The rest of the terms cancel, because (by (3.119)) we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \langle D_1' F, (D_1' H)^{\tau} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \frac{1}{2} \langle D_1 F, (D_1 H)^{\tau} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} \\
= \langle \nabla_1 F, R^i \nabla_1 H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} - \langle \nabla_1' F, R^i \nabla_1' H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}},$$
(3.128)

and this is just the opposite of the remaining term $-\langle (D'_1F, g^{-1}(D_1H)g\rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$ of (3.26). This holds due to the identity (3.18).

Remark 3.11. Formula (3.121) defines a Poisson bracket not only on the ring $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}_{0}^{\prime \operatorname{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$, but on the larger ring $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}_{0}^{\prime \operatorname{reg}})^{G_{0}}$, too. The proof shows that one may rewrite it in the alternative form

$$\{F, H\}'_{\mathrm{red}}(g, \Gamma) = \langle \mathrm{i}(\nabla_1 F)_0, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \langle \mathrm{i}(\nabla_1 H)_0, D_2 F \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \langle D'_1 F, \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)(D'_1 H)^{\tau}) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \langle D_1 F, \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)(D_1 H)^{\tau}) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}.$$

$$(3.129)$$

One can also use the identity (3.128) to get an alternative formula the Poisson– Lie structure (3.18) on G. It may be worth noting that

$$\langle \nabla_1 F, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = \langle i \nabla_1 F, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle i (\nabla_1 F)_0, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$$

= $\langle (D_1 F)_0, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle D_1 F, D_2 H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}},$
(3.130)

since $D_2H \in \mathcal{G}_0$.

Proposition 3.12. If $\mathcal{H} = \pi_1^* h$ with $h \in C^{\infty}(G)^G$, i.e., $\mathcal{H}(g,b) = h(g)$, then formula (3.121) of the reduced Poisson bracket becomes

$$\{F, H\}'_{red}(g, \Gamma) = -\langle D_2 F(g, \Gamma), i(\nabla h(g))_0) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + 2\langle \nabla_1' F(g, \Gamma) - \nabla_1 F(g, \Gamma), \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^2)(i\nabla h(g)) \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}.$$
(3.131)

Introducing the new variable $P := \Gamma^2$, the reduced evolution equation induced by the Hamiltonian H on \mathfrak{M}'_0^{reg} can be written as

$$\dot{g} = 2[g, \mathcal{R}(P)(\mathrm{i}\nabla h(g))], \dot{P} = -2\mathrm{i}(\nabla h(g))_0 P, \qquad (3.132)$$

which is quite analogous to (3.89).

As a consistency check, we verified that the reduced evolution equation (3.132) results also by applying the projection method to the corresponding unreduced evolution equation (3.64). Of course, the evolution equation on $\mathfrak{M}'_0^{\mathrm{reg}}$ is unique only up to infinitesimal gauge transformations that do not change its eventual projection on $\mathfrak{M}'_0^{\mathrm{reg}}/G \simeq \mathfrak{M}'_0^{\mathrm{reg}}/\mathfrak{N}$.

In the $G = \mathrm{SU}(n)$ case, the reduced system characterized by Theorem 3.10 and Proposition 3.12 gives [15] a special real form of the trigonometric Ruijsenaars–Schneider system on a small symplectic leaf of dimension 2(n - 1) in $\mathfrak{M}'_0^{\mathrm{reg}}/\mathfrak{N}$. Thus one may expect to obtain spin Ruijsenaars–Schneider type systems on generic symplectic leaves. However, it is not known how to introduce positions, momenta and spin variables in such a way that would endow the reductions of the pullback invariants $\pi_1^*(C^{\infty}(G)^G)$ with a manybody interpretation. This is analogous to the open problem that exists in relation to the second kind of reduced systems obtained from T^*G .

Toward Integrability After Reduction. We here explain that the mechanism described around Eq. (1.11) is applicable in the present case, too. For this, we use the original model $(M, \{-, -\}_+)$ (3.7) of the Heisenberg double and define the map $\Psi_4 : M \to G^{\mathbb{C}}$ by

$$\Psi_4(K) := W(K) \equiv \Lambda_L(K) \Xi_R(K) \Lambda_L(K)^{-1}$$
(3.133)

using formula (3.65) and the definitions (3.21). We have seen that this map is constant along the Hamiltonian flows generated by the pullback invariants $\Xi_R^*(C^{\infty}(G)^G)$. The conjugation action of G on $G^{\mathbb{C}}$ is defined by the maps \mathcal{C}_η ,

$$\mathcal{C}_{\eta}(K) := \eta K \eta^{-1}, \qquad \forall K \in G^{\mathbb{C}}, \, \eta \in G.$$
(3.134)

We wish to show that Ψ_4 is equivariant with respect to the quasi-adjoint action (3.23) and the conjugation action,

$$\Psi_4 \circ \mathcal{A}^1_\eta = \mathcal{C}_\eta \circ \Psi_4, \qquad \forall \eta \in G.$$
(3.135)

In order to derive this, notice from (3.23) that

$$\Lambda_L(\mathcal{A}^1_\eta(K)) = \Lambda_L(\eta\Lambda_L(K)) \quad \text{and} \\ \Xi_R(\mathcal{A}^1_\eta(K)) = \Xi_R(\eta\Lambda_L(K))^{-1}\Xi_R(K)\Xi_R(\eta\Lambda_L(K)).$$
(3.136)

Therefore, we obtain

$$\Psi_4(\mathcal{A}^1_\eta(K)) = \Lambda_L(\eta\Lambda_L(K))\Xi_R(\eta\Lambda_L(K))^{-1}\Xi_R(K)\Xi_R(\eta\Lambda_L(K))\Lambda_L(\eta\Lambda_L(K))^{-1}$$

= $\eta\Lambda_L(K)\Xi_R(K)(\eta\Lambda_L(K))^{-1} = \eta\Psi_4(K)\eta^{-1}.$ (3.137)

Let us then consider the ring of G-invariant real functions

$$C^{\infty}(G^{\mathbb{C}})^{G}_{\operatorname{conj}} := \{ F \in C^{\infty}(G^{\mathbb{C}}) \mid F \circ \mathcal{C}_{\eta} = F, \quad \forall \eta \in G \}.$$
(3.138)

For every $F \in C^{\infty}(G^{\mathbb{C}})^G_{\text{conj}}$, the function $F \circ \Psi_4 \in C^{\infty}(M)$ is a joint constant of motion for the pullback invariants $\Xi_R^*(C^{\infty}(G)^G)$, and we see from (3.135) that this function is invariant with respect to the quasi-adjoint action of G on M. The alternative formula (cf. (3.65))

$$\Psi_4(K) = \Lambda(K) \Xi_L(K)^{-1}$$
(3.139)

shows that the above constants of motion contain the elements of $\Lambda^*(C^{\infty}(B)^G)$, where Λ is the moment map (3.22). All constants of motion $F \circ \Psi_4$ descend to the reduced space M/G, and those that depend only on Λ become numerical constants on the symplectic leaves of this (stratified) Poisson space. Thus, relying on a straightforward counting argument, we expect that the pullback invariants $\Xi_R^*(C^{\infty}(G)^G)$ engender degenerate integrable systems on generic symplectic leaves in M/G.

By using the diffeomorphism $m: M \to \mathfrak{M}$ (3.25), one can transfer the above construction to the alternative framework based on the unreduced phase space $\mathfrak{M} = G \times B$.

Finally, let us note that the two kinds of reduced systems described in this section are subject to a similar duality relation that we outlined at the end of Sect. 2.

Remark 3.13. Let us consider the function $\chi_{\rho}(K) := \operatorname{tr}_{\rho}(K)$ on $G^{\mathbb{C}}$, where ρ is some finite-dimensional irreducible representation of $G^{\mathbb{C}}$. Then, we obtain $\operatorname{tr}_{\rho}(W(K)) = \operatorname{tr}_{\rho}(\Xi_R(K))$. This shows that the constants of motion $F \circ \Psi_4$ contain the basic pullback invariants associated with the real and imaginary parts of the characters of the irreducible representations of G.

4. Reduction of the Quasi-Poisson Double $G \times G$

Quasi-Hamiltonian manifolds [3] and quasi-Poisson manifolds [1] were introduced primarily in order to provide a purely finite-dimensional construction of the symplectic and Poisson structures of moduli spaces of flat connections, which were originally obtained by infinite-dimensional symplectic reduction. Since then, interesting applications of these concepts came to light in several fields, including the construction of finite-dimensional integrable Hamiltonian systems [8,11,16,18]. The content of this section is closely related to the work Arthamonov and Reshetikhin [4], who constructed degenerate integrable systems on moduli spaces of flat connections, working mostly in a complex holomorphic setting.

Let us recall that a quasi-Poisson manifold is a G-manifold, here denoted S, equipped with a G-invariant bivector, Π , whose key property is that the formula

$$\{\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H}\} := (d\mathcal{F} \otimes d\mathcal{H})(\Pi) \tag{4.1}$$

defines a Poisson algebra structure on the space of invariant function $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{S})^G$. By the standard identification $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{S}/G) \equiv C^{\infty}(\mathcal{S})^G$, this leads to a Poisson structure on the quotient space. Defining the quasi-Poisson bracket of any L. Fehér

smooth functions by (4.1), we may associate a quasi-Hamiltonian vector field $V_{\mathcal{H}}$ with any $\mathcal{H} \in S^{\infty}(\mathcal{S})$ by putting

$$V_{\mathcal{H}}[\mathcal{F}] := \{\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H}\}.$$
(4.2)

The vector field $V_{\mathcal{H}}$ descends to S/G if \mathcal{H} is *G*-invariant. This means that the process of taking the quotient by the *G*-action works for quasi-Poisson manifolds in the same way as it does for Poisson manifolds. The quotient space is known to be a disjoint union of smooth symplectic manifolds, just as for reductions defined by Hamiltonian actions of compact Lie groups [38,50,51].

For general functions, the quasi-Poisson bracket (4.1) violates the Jacobi identity in a specific manner. For this and further details, one may consult [1].

An important quasi-Poisson manifold is the double

$$\mathfrak{D} := G \times G \tag{4.3}$$

of a connected compact Lie group. For our purpose, we continue to assume that the Lie algebra \mathcal{G} of G is simple and G is simply connected. To describe the relevant bivector, we take a basis, e_a , of the Lie algebra \mathcal{G} that satisfies

$$\langle e_a, e_b \rangle_{\mathcal{G}} = -\delta_{a,b},\tag{4.4}$$

where, as before, we use the negative definite invariant bilinear form on \mathcal{G} . To simplify the appearance of the formulas, below we omit the subscript \mathcal{G} from $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$. We let e_a^L and e_a^R denote the left-invariant and right-invariant vector fields on G that extend the tangent vector e_a at the unit element of G. Furthermore, we let $e_a^{1,L}$ and $e_a^{2,L}$ stand for the corresponding vector fields on \mathfrak{D} that are tangent to the first and second G factors of \mathfrak{D} , respectively. Similarly, we introduce $e_a^{1,R}$ and $e_a^{2,R}$ as well. Then, the bivector Π of the (internally fused) double [1] is given by⁶

$$2\Pi = e_a^{1,L} \wedge e_a^{2,R} + e_a^{1,R} \wedge e_a^{2,L} + e_a^{1,R} \wedge e_a^{1,L} + e_a^{2,L} \wedge e_a^{2,R} - e_a^{1,R} \wedge e_a^{2,R} - e_a^{2,L} \wedge e_a^{1,L}.$$
(4.5)

Here and below, the summation convention is in force; the wedge product does not contain $\frac{1}{2}$. This bivector is invariant with respect to the conjugation action of G on \mathfrak{D} , where $\eta \in G$ operates by the map

$$\mathcal{A}_{\eta}: (g_1, g_2) \mapsto (\eta g_1 \eta^{-1}, \eta g_2 \eta^{-1}).$$
 (4.6)

The \mathcal{G} -valued derivatives of $\mathcal{F} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D})$, defined in the same way as in (3.13), can be written as

$$\nabla_1 \mathcal{F} = -e_a e_a^{1,R}[\mathcal{F}], \qquad \nabla_1' \mathcal{F} = -e_a e_a^{1,L}[\mathcal{F}], \qquad (4.7)$$

and similarly for $\nabla_2 \mathcal{F}$ and $\nabla'_2 \mathcal{F}$. To be clear about the notations, note that

$$e_a^{1,R}[\mathcal{F}](g_1,g_2) = \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} \mathcal{F}(\exp(te_a)g_1,g_2), \qquad \forall (g_1,g_2) \in \mathfrak{D}.$$
(4.8)

 $^{^{6}}$ This is obtained from example 5.3 of [1] by performing the fusion procedure of Proposition 5.1 of this reference.

Then, the quasi-Poisson bracket (4.1) of any two smooth functions \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{H} takes the following form:

$$2\{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\} = \langle \nabla_1'\mathcal{H}, \nabla_2\mathcal{F} \rangle - \langle \nabla_2\mathcal{H}, \nabla_1'\mathcal{F} \rangle + \langle \nabla_1\mathcal{H}, \nabla_2'\mathcal{F} \rangle - \langle \nabla_2'\mathcal{H}, \nabla_1\mathcal{F} \rangle + \langle \nabla_2\mathcal{H}, \nabla_1\mathcal{F} \rangle - \langle \nabla_1\mathcal{H}, \nabla_2\mathcal{F} \rangle + \langle \nabla_1'\mathcal{H}, \nabla_2'\mathcal{F} \rangle - \langle \nabla_2'\mathcal{H}, \nabla_1'\mathcal{F} \rangle + \langle \nabla_1\mathcal{H}, \nabla_1'\mathcal{F} \rangle - \langle \nabla_1'\mathcal{H}, \nabla_1\mathcal{F} \rangle + \langle \nabla_2'\mathcal{H}, \nabla_2\mathcal{F} \rangle - \langle \nabla_2\mathcal{H}, \nabla_2'\mathcal{F} \rangle.$$

$$(4.9)$$

This is obtained from (4.5) by using identities like

$$e_a^{1,L}[\mathcal{F}]e_a^{2,R}[\mathcal{H}] = -\langle \nabla_1' \mathcal{F}, \nabla_2 \mathcal{H} \rangle.$$
(4.10)

In the next statement, we apply the natural projections π_1 and π_2 from \mathfrak{D} to G,

$$\pi_1(g_1, g_2) := g_1, \qquad \pi_2(g_1, g_2) := g_2.$$
 (4.11)

Proposition 4.1. Consider arbitrary functions $\mathcal{F} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D})$ and $\phi \in C^{\infty}(G)^{G}$. Then, we have

$$\{\mathcal{F}, \pi_2^* \phi\}(g_1, g_2) = -\langle \nabla_1' \mathcal{F}(g_1, g_2), \nabla \phi(g_2) \rangle, \{\mathcal{F}, \pi_1^* \phi\}(g_1, g_2) = \langle \nabla_2' \mathcal{F}(g_1, g_2), \nabla \phi(g_1) \rangle.$$
(4.12)

Thus, the quasi-Hamiltonian vector field (4.2) of $\pi_2^*\phi$ induces the evolution equation

$$\dot{g}_1 = -g_1 \nabla \phi(g_2), \quad \dot{g}_2 = 0 \quad \text{whose solution is} (g_1(t), g_2(t)) = (g_1(0) \exp(-t \nabla \phi(g_2(0))), g_2(0)), \quad (4.13)$$

and the quasi-Hamiltonian vector field of $\pi_1^*\phi$ induces the evolution equation

$$\dot{g}_1 = 0, \quad \dot{g}_2 = g_2 \nabla \phi(g_1) \quad \text{whose solution is}$$

 $(g_1(t), g_2(t)) = (g_1(0), g_2(0) \exp(t \nabla \phi(g_1(0))).$ (4.14)

Proof. Consider, for example, $\mathcal{H} = \pi_1^* \phi$. Then, $\nabla_2 \mathcal{H} = \nabla'_2 \mathcal{H} = 0$ and $\nabla_1 \mathcal{H} = \nabla'_1 \mathcal{H} = \pi_1^* \nabla \phi$. In this case, simply by collecting terms,

$$2\{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\} = 2\langle \nabla_2'\mathcal{F}, \pi_1^* \nabla \phi \rangle + \langle \nabla_1' \mathcal{F} - \nabla_1 \mathcal{F}, \pi_1^* \nabla \phi \rangle, \qquad (4.15)$$

and the second term vanishes on account of the relations

$$\nabla_1 \mathcal{F}(g_1, g_2) = g_1 \nabla_1' \mathcal{F}(g_1, g_2) g_1^{-1}, \quad g_1^{-1} \nabla \phi(g_1) g_1 = \nabla \phi(g_1), \quad (4.16)$$

and the *G*-invariance of $\langle -, - \rangle$. The rest of the statement is verified by straightforward inspection.

We see from Proposition 4.1 that the ring $\pi_2^* C^{\infty}(G)^G$ forms an Abelian Poisson algebra, and g_2 as well as $\tilde{g}_1 := g_1 g_2 g_1^{-1}$ are constant along all of the corresponding integral curves (4.13). This shows that the functional dimension of the joint constants of motion for the evolution equations in (4.13) is $\dim(\mathfrak{D}) - \operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{G})$. In conclusion, the family of Hamiltonians $\pi_2^* C^{\infty}(G)^G$, of functional dimension $\operatorname{rank}(\mathcal{G})$, behaves basically in the same way as a degenerate integrable system on a symplectic manifold. Quite similar observations apply to the Poisson algebra $\pi_1^* C^{\infty}(G)^G$. We merely note that the relevant

Ann. Henri Poincaré

L. Fehér

constants of motion are now provided by arbitrary smooth functions of g_1 and $\tilde{g}_2 := g_2 g_1 g_2^{-1}$.

Mimicking the reduction procedure of Sect. 2, we introduce the submanifolds

$$\mathfrak{D}^{\text{reg}} := \{ (g_1, g_2) \in \mathfrak{D} \mid g_1 \in G^{\text{reg}} \}, \\
\mathfrak{D}_0^{\text{reg}} := \{ (Q, g) \in \mathfrak{D} \mid Q \in G_0^{\text{reg}} \},$$
(4.17)

and

$$\mathfrak{D}'^{\mathrm{reg}} := \{ (g_1, g_2) \in \mathfrak{D} \mid g_2 \in G^{\mathrm{reg}} \}, \\ \mathfrak{D}'^{\mathrm{reg}}_0 := \{ (g, Q) \in \mathfrak{D} \mid Q \in G^{\mathrm{reg}}_0 \}.$$
(4.18)

Using the normalizer \mathfrak{N} (2.17), restriction of functions engenders the isomorphisms

$$C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}^{\mathrm{reg}})^G \iff C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}_0^{\mathrm{reg}})^{\mathfrak{N}}$$
 (4.19)

and

$$C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}'^{\mathrm{reg}})^G \iff C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}'^{\mathrm{reg}}_0)^{\mathfrak{N}}.$$
 (4.20)

We next point out that the bracket (4.9) simplifies considerably for invariant functions.

Proposition 4.2. If $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D})^{G}$, then formula (4.9) can be rewritten as $2\{\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H}\} = \langle \nabla_{1}\mathcal{H}, \nabla_{2}\mathcal{F} + \nabla'_{2}\mathcal{F} \rangle - \langle \nabla_{2}\mathcal{F}, \nabla_{2}\mathcal{H} + \nabla'_{2}\mathcal{H} \rangle$

$$\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} \} = \langle \nabla_1 \mathcal{H}, \nabla_2 \mathcal{F} + \nabla'_2 \mathcal{F} \rangle - \langle \nabla_1 \mathcal{F}, \nabla_2 \mathcal{H} + \nabla'_2 \mathcal{H} \rangle + \langle \nabla_2 \mathcal{H}, \nabla'_2 \mathcal{F} \rangle - \langle \nabla'_2 \mathcal{H}, \nabla_2 \mathcal{F} \rangle, \qquad (4.21)$$

and alternatively also as

$$2\{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\} = \langle \nabla_2 \mathcal{F}, \nabla_1 \mathcal{H} + \nabla_1' \mathcal{H} \rangle - \langle \nabla_2 \mathcal{H}, \nabla_1 \mathcal{F} + \nabla_1' \mathcal{F} \rangle + \langle \nabla_1 \mathcal{F}, \nabla_1' \mathcal{H} \rangle - \langle \nabla_1' \mathcal{F}, \nabla_1 \mathcal{H} \rangle.$$
(4.22)

Proof. The derivatives of the *G*-invariant functions \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{H} satisfy

$$\nabla_{1}\mathcal{F} - \nabla_{1}'\mathcal{F} + \nabla_{2}\mathcal{F} - \nabla_{2}'\mathcal{F} = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \nabla_{1}\mathcal{H} - \nabla_{1}'\mathcal{H} + \nabla_{2}\mathcal{H} - \nabla_{2}'\mathcal{H} = 0.$$
(4.23)

Formula (4.21) results from (4.9) by elimination of $\nabla'_1 \mathcal{F}$ and $\nabla'_1 \mathcal{H}$ via these relations, and (4.22) results by doing the same to $\nabla'_2 \mathcal{F}$ and $\nabla'_2 \mathcal{H}$. \Box

Formulae (4.21) and (4.22) are also valid for invariant functions on any open *G*-invariant submanifold of \mathfrak{D} . This simple remark is applied below. Any function $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}_0^{\text{reg}})$ has the \mathcal{G}_0 -valued derivative $\nabla_1 F$ and the \mathcal{G} -valued derivatives $\nabla_2 F$ and $\nabla'_2 F$, which are defined in the natural manner. For functions on $\mathfrak{D}'_0^{\text{reg}}$, the roles of the subscripts 1 and 2 are exchanged.

Theorem 4.3. First, let $F, H \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}_{0}^{reg})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ be the restrictions of $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}^{reg})^{G}$, respectively. Then, the definition

$$\{F,H\}_{red}(Q,g) := \{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\}(Q,g), \qquad \forall (Q,g) \in \mathfrak{D}_0^{reg}, \tag{4.24}$$

leads to the formula

$$\{F, H\}_{red}(Q, g) = \langle \nabla_1 H, \nabla_2 F \rangle - \langle \nabla_1 F, \nabla_2 H \rangle$$

$$+\langle \nabla_2' F, \mathcal{R}(Q) \nabla_2' H \rangle - \langle \nabla_2 F, \mathcal{R}(Q) \nabla_2 H \rangle.$$
 (4.25)

Second, let $F, H \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}_{0}^{\prime reg})^{\mathfrak{N}}$ be the restrictions of $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}^{\prime reg})^{G}$, respectively. Then, the definition

$$\{F,H\}'_{red}(g,Q) := \{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\}(g,Q), \qquad \forall (g,Q) \in \mathfrak{D}'_0^{reg}, \tag{4.26}$$

gives

$$\{F, H\}'_{red}(g, Q) = \langle \nabla_2 F, \nabla_1 H \rangle - \langle \nabla_2 H, \nabla_1 F \rangle + \langle \nabla_1 F, \mathcal{R}(Q) \nabla_1 H \rangle - \langle \nabla'_1 F, \mathcal{R}(Q) \nabla'_1 H \rangle.$$
 (4.27)

Here, $\mathcal{R}(Q)$ is given by (2.22), and the derivatives are taken at (Q, g) and at (g, Q), respectively.

Proof. By taking advantage of the identity (4.23) at $(Q, g) \in \mathfrak{D}_0^{\text{reg}}$ (4.17), we can express the derivatives of \mathcal{F} in terms of the derivatives of F as follows:

$$\nabla_2 \mathcal{F}(Q,g) = \nabla_2 F(Q,g), \quad (\nabla_2 F(Q,g) - \nabla'_2 F(Q,g))_0 = 0,$$
(4.28)

$$\nabla_1 \mathcal{F}(Q,g) = \nabla_1 F(Q,g) - \left(\mathcal{R}(Q) + \frac{1}{2} \mathrm{id}\right) \left(\nabla_2 F(Q,g) - \nabla'_2 F(Q,g)\right).$$
(4.29)

By inserting this and the similar formula for the derivatives of \mathcal{H} into (4.21), we obtain (4.25). The details of this straightforward calculation are omitted. The derivation of (4.27) is fully analogous and can also be obtained from the previous case by exchange of the subscripts 1 and 2, accompanied by applying an overall minus sign.

Proposition 4.4. If H is the restriction of $\mathcal{H} = \pi_2^* \phi$ with $\phi \in C^{\infty}(G)^G$, then the reduced Poisson bracket (4.25) gives

$$\{F, H\}_{red}(Q, g) = -\langle \nabla_1 F(Q, g), \nabla \phi(g) \rangle + \langle \nabla'_2 F(Q, g) - \nabla_2 F(Q, g), \mathcal{R}(Q) \nabla \phi(g) \rangle,$$
 (4.30)

and if H is the restriction of $\mathcal{H} = \pi_1^* \phi$ with $\phi \in C^{\infty}(G)^G$, then the reduced Poisson bracket (4.27) gives

$$\{F, H\}'_{red}(g, Q) = \langle \nabla_2 F(Q, g), \nabla \phi(g) \rangle - \langle \nabla'_1 F(Q, g) - \nabla_1 F(Q, g), \mathcal{R}(Q) \nabla \phi(g) \rangle.$$
 (4.31)

Therefore, the reduced evolution equations associated with H can be written, respectively, as

$$\dot{Q} = -(\nabla\phi(g))_0 Q, \qquad \dot{g} = [g, \mathcal{R}(Q)\nabla\phi(g)], \quad on \quad \mathfrak{D}_0^{reg},$$
(4.32)

and as

$$\dot{Q} = (\nabla \phi(g))_0 Q, \qquad \dot{g} = -[g, \mathcal{R}(Q) \nabla \phi(g)], \quad on \quad \mathfrak{D}'_0^{reg}.$$
 (4.33)

Remark 4.5. It is easily seen that the formulae of Theorem 4.3 yield Poisson algebra structures on $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}_0^{\mathrm{reg}})^{G_0}$ and, respectively, on $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}_0'^{\mathrm{reg}})^{G_0}$, too. These Poisson algebras and also the evolution equations of Proposition 4.4 differ only by an overall sign (and the allocation of the labels 1 and 2). They are converted into one another by the map $(Q, g) \mapsto (g, Q^{-1})$. Thus, the two

models of the reduced double that we developed carry equivalent copies of the same system.

Remark 4.6. It is known [1] that the Poisson center of the Poisson algebra $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D})^G$ of the internally fused double \mathfrak{D} (4.3) is formed by the functions \mathcal{C} of the form

$$\mathcal{C}(g_1, g_2) = h(g_1 g_2 g_1^{-1} g_2^{-1}), \qquad h \in C^{\infty}(G)^G.$$
(4.34)

By fixing the values of all these Casimir functions, one obtains a Poisson subspace of \mathfrak{D}/G , which is the disjoint union of a dense open symplectic manifold and lower-dimensional symplectic strata. The restrictions of the reduced systems on generic symplectic leaves of the reduced double \mathfrak{D}/G are expected to be integrable in the degenerate sense. They inherit a large set of integrals of motion from the unreduced master system, and the same counting arguments work as for the spin Sutherland models of Sect. 2.1.

Remark 4.7. The investigations reported in [16,18] are equivalent to studying particular Poisson subspaces of \mathfrak{D}/G for $G = \mathrm{SU}(n)$. They can be obtained by fixing the values of the functions h in (4.34) so that they define a minimal conjugacy class in G, of dimension 2(n-1). The Poisson subspaces in question were shown to be smooth symplectic manifolds, and the reduced integrable system was interpreted as a compactified trigonometric Ruijsenaars–Schneider model.

We end by recalling [17] that the group $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ acts on \mathfrak{D}/G as follows. Define the diffeomorphisms $S_{\mathfrak{D}}$ and $T_{\mathfrak{D}}$ of the double by

$$S_{\mathfrak{D}}(g_1, g_2) = (g_2^{-1}, g_2^{-1}g_1g_2) \text{ and } T_{\mathfrak{D}}(g_1, g_2) := (g_1g_2, g_2).$$
 (4.35)

These maps descend to maps \hat{S} and \hat{T} of \mathfrak{D}/G that satisfy the identities

$$\hat{S}^2 = (\hat{S} \circ \hat{T})^3, \qquad \hat{S}^4 = \mathrm{id},$$
(4.36)

and preserve the Poisson brackets on $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D}/G) \simeq C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{D})^G$ as well as the level surfaces of the Casimir functions (4.34). The identities (4.36) represent the standard defining relations of the group $\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. In the matrix realization, they are enjoyed by the generators

$$S = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad T = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.37)

Notice that \hat{S} maps into one another the two reduced Abelian Poisson algebras arising from the two sets of pullback invariants. It can be interpreted as a selfduality map that converts the 'global position variables' into the 'Hamiltonians of interest' of the reduced systems that descend from the double. Referring to Proposition 4.4, the 'global position variables' are those functions of Q that are restrictions of pullback invariants, and the 'Hamiltonians of interest' are the G-invariant functions of the Lax matrix g.

5. Summary and Outlook

In this paper, we performed a systematic study of Poisson reductions of 'master integrable systems' carried by the classical doubles of any compact (connected and simply connected) Lie group G associated with a simple Lie algebra \mathcal{G} . Informally, using the terminology of matrix Lie groups, the outcome of our analysis can be summarized as follows. The starting phase space always consists of a pair of matrices, and the action of G is equivalent to simultaneous conjugation of those two matrices by the elements of G. We proceeded by bringing one of those matrices to a 'diagonal' normal form, and letting the other matrix serve as a Lax matrix that generates commuting Hamiltonians. The Lax matrix then satisfies reduced evolution equations of the form

$$\dot{\mathcal{L}} = [\mathbf{R}(X)Y(\mathcal{L}), \mathcal{L}], \tag{5.1}$$

where $Y(\mathcal{L})$ is a \mathcal{G} -valued derivative of a G-invariant function of \mathcal{L} , and $\mathbf{R}(X)$ is a dynamical *r*-matrix depending on the diagonal 'position matrix' X. The aligned evolution equation for X contains the Cartan subalgebra component $Y(\mathcal{L})_0$ of $Y(\mathcal{L})$. The nature of the matrices \mathcal{L} , X and $\mathbf{R}(X)$ and the derivative $Y(\mathcal{L})$ varies case by case, and is described in the text. This description is valid on a dense open subset, where X satisfies a regularity condition. The matrices X and \mathcal{L} are subject to residual gauge transformations by the normalizer of a fixed maximal torus of G, and we found the explicit formula for the Poisson brackets of the corresponding invariant functions. The dynamical *r*-matrices play a prominent role in the reduced Poisson brackets as well. In precise technical terms, the reduced evolution equations are given by Eqs. (2.36), (2.51), (3.89), (3.132), (4.32) and (4.33). The reduced Poisson brackets are characterized by Theorems 2.1, 2.4, 3.5, 3.10 and 4.3.

We explained that the unreduced master systems possess the characteristic properties of degenerate integrability. Then, we presented convincing arguments indicating that these properties are inherited by the reduced systems, on generic symplectic leaves of the reduced Poisson space. A fully rigorous proof of integrability after reduction is hindered by the fact that the orbit space of the *G*-action is not a smooth manifold. We conjecture that reduced integrability holds on all symplectic leaves of the quotient space, generically degenerate integrability, and only Liouville integrability on exceptional symplectic leaves.

On special symplectic leaves of the reduced Poisson spaces associated with G = SU(n), one recovers the trigonometric Sutherland and Ruijsenaars– Schneider models, which are known to be (only) Liouville integrable [44]. These special cases and the changes of variables discussed around Eqs. (1.9), (2.37) and (3.96) motivated us to call the reduced systems spin Sutherland and spin Ruijsenaars–Schneider type models. This terminology was also used in the papers by Reshetikhin [41,42] dealing with related complex holomorphic systems.

A very interesting open problem concerns the generalization of our analysis to doubles of loop groups. The investigation of quantum Hamiltonian reductions corresponding to our classical reductions appears to be a worthwhile project for the future, too. As far as we know, such a reduction treatment is so far available (see, e.g., [20]) only for the spin Sutherland models descending from T^*G .

Acknowledgements

I wish to thank Maxime Fairon for useful remarks on the manuscript. This work was supported in part by the NKFIH research Grant K134946. The publication was also supported by the University of Szeged Open Access Fund, under Grant Number 5985.

Funding Information Open access funding provided by University of Szeged.

Open Access. This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Appendix A. Some Lie Theoretic Facts

We here collect a few Lie theoretic definitions and results, which are used in the main text. For references, see, e.g., [9, 26, 46].

Consider a compact simple Lie algebra \mathcal{G} , i.e., a simple real Lie algebra whose Killing form is negative definite. Denote $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$ the complex simple Lie algebra obtained as the complexification of \mathcal{G} . (Equivalently, one may start with a complex simple Lie algebra and then pick its compact real form.) Let $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$ carry the normalized Killing form $\langle -, - \rangle$, given by

$$\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle = c \operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{ad}_{Z_1} \circ \operatorname{ad}_{Z_2}), \quad Z_1, Z_2 \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}},$$
 (A.1)

where c is some convenient, positive constant. The restriction of $\langle -, - \rangle$ to \mathcal{G} is the (normalized) Killing form $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathcal{G}}$ of \mathcal{G} . We may regard $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$ also as a real Lie algebra, in which case we denote it $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$. Up to an overall, positive constant, the Killing form of $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ is given by the real part $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathbb{R}}$ of $\langle -, - \rangle$. The real vector space $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ can be written as the direct sum

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}} = \mathcal{G} + \mathrm{i}\mathcal{G},\tag{A.2}$$

since every element $Z \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ can be decomposed uniquely as

$$Z = X + iY, \quad X, Y \in \mathcal{G}. \tag{A.3}$$

By definition, the complex conjugation on $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ with respect to \mathcal{G} is the map θ defined by

$$\theta(X + iY) := X - iY. \tag{A.4}$$

The complex conjugation θ is an involutive automorphism of the real Lie algebra $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$. It is a *Cartan involution*, since $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathbb{R}}$ is negative definite on its fixed point set, \mathcal{G} , and is positive definite on its eigensubspace with eigenvalue -1, i \mathcal{G} . When regarded as a map of $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$ to itself, θ is conjugate linear, i.e., $\theta(\lambda Z) = \overline{\lambda}\theta(Z)$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Notice also from the definitions that

$$\langle \theta(Z_1), \theta(Z_2) \rangle = \overline{\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle}, \quad \forall Z_1, Z_2 \in \mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}.$$
 (A.5)

We also need the real bilinear form on $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ provided by the imaginary part of the complex Killing form,

$$\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} := \Im \langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle. \tag{A.6}$$

As a result of (A.5), this invariant, non-degenerate, symmetric bilinear form enjoys the equality

$$\langle \theta(Z_1), \theta(Z_2) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = -\langle Z_1, Z_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}, \quad \forall Z_1, Z_2 \in \mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}.$$
 (A.7)

A crucial fact is that $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ can be presented as the vector space direct sum of two isotropic subalgebras with respect to the bilinear form $\langle -, - \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$:

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}} = \mathcal{G} + \mathcal{B},\tag{A.8}$$

where \mathcal{B} is a suitable 'Borel' subalgebra. We next recall how these subalgebras can be described using the root space decomposition of $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$. For this, let us pick a maximal Abelian subalgebra \mathcal{G}_0 of \mathcal{G} . Its complexification $\mathcal{G}_0^{\mathbb{C}}$ is a Cartan subalgebra of $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$. Then, consider the corresponding set of roots, \mathfrak{R} , and decompose \mathfrak{R} into sets of positive and negative roots \mathfrak{R}^{\pm} . Moreover, let Δ be the associated set of simple roots. It is easily seen that the Cartan involution θ maps any root subspace $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha}^{\mathbb{C}}$ ($\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}$) to $\mathcal{G}_{-\alpha}^{\mathbb{C}}$.

We then choose a Weyl–Chevalley basis of $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{C}}$, which consists of root vectors E_{α} for which $\langle E_{\alpha}, E_{-\alpha} \rangle = 2/|\alpha|^2$ for all $\alpha \in \mathfrak{R}^+$, and Cartan elements $H_{\alpha_j} := [E_{\alpha}, E_{-\alpha_j}]$ for $\alpha_j \in \Delta$. The root vectors are chosen in such a way that all structure constants are real and $E_{-\alpha} = -\theta(E_{\alpha})$ holds. (Then, if α, β and $(\alpha + \beta)$ are roots, one has $[E_{\alpha}, E_{\beta}] = N_{\alpha,\beta}E_{\alpha+\beta}$ and $[E_{-\alpha}, E_{-\beta}] =$ $-N_{\alpha,\beta}E_{-\alpha-\beta}$; and all structure constants are integers [46].) Using any such basis, \mathcal{G} is given by

$$\mathcal{G} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}} \{ \operatorname{i} H_{\alpha_j}, \, (E_\alpha - E_{-\alpha}), \, \operatorname{i} (E_\alpha + E_{-\alpha}) \mid \alpha_j \in \Delta, \, \alpha \in \mathfrak{R}^+ \}, \quad (A.9)$$

and one can take

$$\mathcal{B} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}} \{ H_{\alpha_j}, \, E_\alpha, \, iE_\alpha \mid \alpha_j \in \Delta, \, \alpha \in \mathfrak{R}^+ \}.$$
(A.10)

It is worth noting that there are as many choices for \mathcal{B} as systems of positive roots, but all of them are equivalent by the action of the Weyl group of the root system.

Next, we explain why the map $\nu : B \to \mathfrak{P}$ (3.35) is a diffeomorphism. To start, define the maps

$$\mu_1 : G^{\mathbb{C}}_{\mathbb{R}}/G \to B \quad \text{and} \quad \mu_2 : G^{\mathbb{C}}_{\mathbb{R}}/G \to \mathfrak{P}$$
(A.11)

by

 $\mu_1 : [K] \mapsto \Lambda_L(K) \quad \text{and} \quad \mu_2 : [K] \mapsto KK^{\tau},$ (A.12)

where $[K] = KG \in G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}/G$, $\forall K \in G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$, and we used the definitions (3.21) and (3.32). Recall that $G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ is diffeomorphic to $B \times G$ and to $\mathfrak{P} \times G$ by the Iwasawa and global Cartan decompositions, respectively, and $\mathfrak{P} = \exp(\mathrm{i}\mathcal{G})$ is diffeomorphic to $\mathrm{i}\mathcal{G}$ by the exponential map [26]. It follows that μ_1 and μ_2 are (real analytic) diffeomorphisms with the inverses

$$\mu_1^{-1}: b \mapsto bG, \ \forall b \in B \quad \text{and} \quad \mu_2^{-1}: P \mapsto \sqrt{P}G, \ \forall P \in \mathfrak{P}.$$
 (A.13)

Therefore, the composed map $\nu = \mu_2 \circ \mu_1^{-1} : B \to \mathfrak{P}$ is a diffeomorphism, with the inverse operating as $\nu^{-1} : P \mapsto \Lambda_L(\sqrt{P})$.

At the end, we present some remarks on the rings of G-invariant functions on which our integrable systems are based. Here, the following isomorphisms are fundamental:

$$C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G \longleftrightarrow C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G}_0)^{\mathcal{W}}$$
 and $C^{\infty}(G)^G \longleftrightarrow C^{\infty}(G_0)^{\mathcal{W}}$, (A.14)

where \mathcal{W} is the Weyl group. These are generalizations [32, 39] of the Chevalley isomorphism theorem between G-invariant polynomials on \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{W} -invariant polynomials on the Cartan subalgebra \mathcal{G}_0 . The isomorphisms result from the pertinent restrictions of functions, and they readily imply that both $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G$ and $C^{\infty}(G)^G$ have functional dimension $\ell = \operatorname{rank}(G)$. By combining a theorem of [47] on smooth invariants with the fact that the ring of G-invariant polynomials on \mathcal{G} is freely generated by ℓ homogeneous polynomials, $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_\ell$, one obtains that $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G$ consists of the functions ϕ of the form $\phi = f(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_\ell)$ with arbitrary $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^\ell)$. This gives the structure of the ring $C^{\infty}(B)^G$, too, by utilizing the isomorphisms

$$C^{\infty}(B)^G \longleftrightarrow C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{P})^G \longleftrightarrow C^{\infty}(\mathcal{G})^G,$$
 (A.15)

which arise from the *G*-equivariant diffeomorphism ν (3.35) and the exponential parametrization of $\mathfrak{P} = \exp(i\mathcal{G})$.

Let $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ be an irreducible unitary representations of G, and ϱ the corresponding representation of \mathcal{G} . Then, the character $G \ni g \mapsto \operatorname{tr} \rho(g)$ is a G-invariant (in general complex) function on G, and $\mathfrak{P} \ni e^{\mathrm{i}X} \mapsto \operatorname{tr} e^{\mathrm{i}\varrho(X)}$ is a G-invariant real function on \mathfrak{P} . By taking suitable real or imaginary parts, it should be possible to obtain ℓ functionally independent elements of $C^{\infty}(G)^G$ from the fundamental irreducible representations of G. In the case of \mathcal{G} , the real trace functions $\mathcal{G} \ni X \mapsto \operatorname{tr}(\mathrm{i}\varrho(X))^k$, with $k \geq 2$, provide convenient invariants.

Appendix B. Equivalence of Two Models of the Heisenberg Double

According to the original definition [48], the Heisenberg double of the Poisson– Lie group G is the Poisson manifold $(M, \{-, -\}_+)$, where $M = G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}}$ and for any $F, H \in C^{\infty}(M)$

$$\{F, H\}_{+} = \langle \nabla F, \rho \nabla H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \langle \nabla' F, \rho \nabla' H \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}, \tag{B.1}$$

with $\rho := \frac{1}{2} (\pi_{\mathcal{G}} - \pi_{\mathcal{B}})$ defined with the aid of the vector space direct sum $\mathcal{G}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathbb{C}} = \mathcal{G} + \mathcal{B}$. The corresponding symplectic form was found in [2]. An alternative model of this Poisson space is $(\mathfrak{M}, \{-, -\})$, where $\mathfrak{M} = G \times B$ and

$$\{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\}(g,b) = \left\langle D_2'\mathcal{F}, b^{-1}(D_2\mathcal{H})b \right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \left\langle D_1'\mathcal{F}, g^{-1}(D_1\mathcal{H})g \right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \left\langle D_1\mathcal{F}, D_2\mathcal{H} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \left\langle D_1\mathcal{H}, D_2\mathcal{F} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$$
(B.2)

for functions \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} on \mathfrak{M} . The derivatives on the right-hand side are taken at $(g, b) \in G \times B$, with respect to the first and second variable, respectively. See also Eqs. (3.8), (3.11) and (3.12) for the definitions of the derivatives.

The purpose of this appendix is to explain that the bracket (B.2) on \mathfrak{M} is the pushforward of the standard Poisson bracket (B.1) by the diffeomorphism m (3.25) between M and \mathfrak{M} . In particular, this proves that $(\mathfrak{M}, \{-, -\})$ is indeed a Poisson manifold.

Lemma B.1. Using the definitions (3.21), the map $m: M \to \mathfrak{M}$ given by

$$m = (\Xi_R, \Lambda_R)$$
 that is $m(K) = (g_R, b_R)$ (B.3)

is a real analytic diffeomorphism.

Proof. For any $K \in M$, the unique Iwasawa decompositions $K = b_L g_R^{-1} = g_L b_R^{-1}$ (3.20) imply the equality $g_L^{-1} b_L = b_R^{-1} g_R$. This shows that $b_L \in B$ and $g_L \in G$, and thus also K, can be recovered from $b_R \in B$ and $g_R \in G$. Hence, the map m is injective. The surjectivity of the map m is also clear, since by re-decomposing $b_R^{-1} g_R$ in the other order we can construct K such that $(g_R, b_R) = m(K)$. The real analytic nature of the relevant decompositions is well known [26].

Let π_1 and π_2 denote the obvious projections from $\mathfrak{M} = G \times B$ onto G and B, respectively. Then, we have the identities

$$\Xi_R = \pi_1 \circ m, \qquad \Lambda_R = \pi_2 \circ m. \tag{B.4}$$

We wish to prove that

$$\{\mathcal{F},\mathcal{H}\} \circ m = \{\mathcal{F} \circ m, \mathcal{H} \circ m\}_+, \qquad \forall \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{H} \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}).$$
(B.5)

We start with two useful lemmas.

Lemma B.2. For any $f \in C^{\infty}(G)$ and $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(B)$, consider the functions $f \circ \Xi_R$ and $\varphi \circ \Lambda_R$ on M. Then, the derivatives of these functions obey the identities

$$(\nabla'\varphi \circ \Lambda_R)(K) = -b_R D'\varphi(b_R)b_R^{-1},$$

L. Fehér

$$(\nabla' f \circ \Xi_R)(K) = -g_R D' f(g_R) g_R^{-1}, \tag{B.6}$$

and

$$(\nabla \varphi \circ \Lambda_R)(K) = -g_L(D'\varphi(b_R))g_L^{-1},$$

$$(\nabla f \circ \Xi_R)(K) = -b_L(D'f(g_R))b_L^{-1},$$
(B.7)

where the decompositions $K = b_L g_R^{-1} = b_L g_R^{-1}$ (3.20) are used.

Proof. Denote $F := \varphi \circ \Lambda_R$ and use the decompositions of $K \in M$ defined in (3.20). Then, for any $X \in \mathcal{B}$ and $K \in M$, we have

$$\langle \nabla' F(K), X \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} F(Ke^{tX}) = \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} F(g_L b_R^{-1} e^{tX}) = \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} \varphi(e^{-tX} b_R)$$
$$= -\langle X, D\varphi(b_R) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}},$$
(B.8)

which means that

$$(\nabla' F(K))_{\mathcal{G}} = -D\varphi(b_R) = -\left(b_R(D'\varphi(b_R))b_R^{-1}\right)_{\mathcal{G}},\tag{B.9}$$

where the second equality reflects the relation of the left and right derivatives of φ . Next, taking $X \in \mathcal{G}$, notice from the definitions (3.21) and (3.28) that

$$\Lambda_R(Ke^{tX}) = \Lambda_R(g_L(e^{-tX}b_R)^{-1}) = \operatorname{Dress}_{e^{-tX}}(b_R),$$
(B.10)

and therefore

$$\langle \nabla' F(K), X \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} \varphi(\mathrm{Dress}_{e^{-tX}}(b_R)) = \langle D'\varphi(b_R), -(b_R^{-1}Xb_R)_{\mathcal{B}} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = -\langle b_R D'\varphi(b_R)b_R^{-1}, X \rangle_{\mathbb{I}},$$
(B.11)

which means that

$$(\nabla' F(K))_{\mathcal{B}} = -\left(b_R(D'\varphi(b_R))b_R^{-1}\right)_{\mathcal{B}}.$$
(B.12)

The second equality in (B.11) follows from formula (3.29) of the infinitesimal dressing action. Putting these together, we have proved the first relation in (B.6), and the second one is derived in a similar manner. These imply the equalities (B.7) since, for any function F on M, $\nabla F(K) = K \nabla' F(K) K^{-1}$. \Box

Let us recall that $(G, \{-, -\}_G)$ and $(B, \{-, -\}_B)$ are Poisson–Lie groups, with the Poisson structures

$$\{\varphi_1, \varphi_2\}_B(b) = \langle D'\varphi_1(b), b^{-1}(D\varphi_2(b))b\rangle_{\mathbb{I}} \text{ and}$$
$$\{f_1, f_2\}_G(g) = -\langle D'f_1(g), g^{-1}(Df_2(g))g\rangle_{\mathbb{I}}.$$
(B.13)

Based on the above definitions and the relations of the various derivatives, the following statement is easily verified.

Lemma B.3. For arbitrary smooth functions φ_i on B and f_i on G (i = 1, 2), we have

$$\{\varphi_1 \circ \Lambda_R, \varphi_2 \circ \Lambda_R\}_+ = \{\varphi_1, \varphi_2\}_B \circ \Lambda_R, \{\varphi_1 \circ \pi_2, \varphi_2 \circ \pi_2\} = \{\varphi_1, \varphi_2\}_B \circ \pi_2,$$
(B.14)

$${f_1 \circ \Xi_R, f_2 \circ \Xi_R}_+ = {f_1, f_2}_G \circ \Xi_R,$$

$$\{f_1 \circ \pi_1, f_2 \circ \pi_1\} = \{f_1, f_2\}_G \circ \pi_1, \tag{B.15}$$

and

$$\{f_i \circ \Xi_R, \varphi_j \circ \Lambda_R\}_+ = \langle (Df_i) \circ \Xi_R, (D\varphi_j) \circ \Lambda_R \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}, \{f_i \circ \pi_1, \varphi_j \circ \pi_2\} = \langle (Df_i) \circ \pi_1, (D\varphi_j) \circ \pi_2 \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}.$$
 (B.16)

Proof. For example, let us consider arbitrary $f \in C^{\infty}(G)$ and $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(B)$. Then, due to Lemma B.2, the first term in formula (B.1) gives

$$\begin{split} \langle \nabla f \circ \Xi_R(K), \rho \nabla \varphi \circ \Lambda_R(K) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \langle b_L D' f(g_R) b_L^{-1}, g_L D' \varphi(b_R) g_L^{-1} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \frac{1}{2} \langle g_L^{-1} b_L D' f(g_R) b_L^{-1} g_L, D' \varphi(b_R) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \langle b_R^{-1} g_R D' f(g_R) g_R^{-1} b_R, D' \varphi(b_R) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \frac{1}{2} \langle g_R D' f(g_R) g_R^{-1}, b_R D' \varphi(b_R) b_R^{-1} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \langle D f(g_R), D \varphi(b_R) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} + \frac{1}{2} \langle (g_R D' f(g_R) g_R^{-1})_{\mathcal{G}}, (b_R D' \varphi(b_R) b_R^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}. \end{split}$$
(B.17)

On the other hand, the second term gives

$$\langle \nabla' f \circ \Xi_R(K), \rho \nabla' \varphi \circ \Lambda_R(K) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle g_R D' f(g_R) g_R^{-1}, \rho(b_R D' \varphi(b_R) b_R^{-1}) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \langle Df(g_R), D\varphi(b_R) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} - \frac{1}{2} \langle (g_R D' f(g_R) g_R^{-1})_{\mathcal{G}}, (b_R D' \varphi(b_R) b_R^{-1})_{\mathcal{B}} \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}.$$
(B.18)

Combining these terms, we obtain the first identity in (B.16). The rest of the identities follows by similar, but shorter, calculations.

Remark B.4. Lemma B.3 says, in particular, that Λ_R and Ξ_R are Poisson maps from $(M, \{-, -\}_+)$ to B and G equipped with the Poisson structures (B.13) on B and G, respectively. One can show that Λ_L and Ξ_L have the same properties. Moreover,

$$\{\varphi_1 \circ \Lambda_L, \varphi_2 \circ \Lambda_R\}_+ = \{f_1 \circ \Xi_L, f_2 \circ \Xi_R\}_+ = 0$$
(B.19)

holds for all $\varphi_i \in C^{\infty}(B)$ and $f_i \in C^{\infty}(G)$. These statements follow also from the general theory of the Heisenberg double [48,49].

Proposition B.5. The map m (B.3) is a Poisson diffeomorphism between $(M, \{-,-\}_+)$ (B.1) and $(\mathfrak{M}, \{-,-\})$ (B.2), that is, the equality (B.5) holds.

Proof. Notice that the equality (B.5) follows for all smooth functions on \mathfrak{M} if we prove it for those functions that are of the form $f \circ \pi_1$ and $\varphi \circ \pi_2$ for arbitrary smooth functions f on G and φ on B. In order to see this, it is enough to remark that the exterior derivatives of such functions span the cotangent space to \mathfrak{M} at any point.

For the types of functions that feature in Lemma B.3, using also (B.4), we can write

$$\{\varphi_1 \circ \pi_2, \varphi_2 \circ \pi_2\} \circ m = \{\varphi_1, \varphi_2\}_B \circ \pi_2 \circ m = \{\varphi_1, \varphi_2\}_B \circ \Lambda_R$$
$$= \{\varphi_1 \circ \Lambda_R, \varphi_2 \circ \Lambda_R\}_+ = \{\varphi_1 \circ \pi_2 \circ m, \varphi_2 \circ \pi_2 \circ m\}_+.$$
(B.20)

The other cases of functions are handled in exactly the same way.

Appendix C. On the Construction of G-invariant Constants of Motion via Averaging

Let X be a G-manifold and V a G-invariant vector field on X,

$$V = (A_{\eta})_* V, \qquad \forall \eta \in G, \tag{C.1}$$

where A_{η} denotes the diffeomorphism of X associated with $\eta \in G$. The Ginvariance of the vector field is equivalent to the property that if x(t) is an integral curve of V, then $A_{\eta}(x(t))$ is also an integral curve, for each $\eta \in G$. Suppose now that G is compact and denote by d_G the Haar measure normalized so that the volume of G is 1. For any real function $\mathcal{F} \in C^{\infty}(X)$ define the function \mathcal{F}^G by averaging the functions $A_n^* \mathcal{F}$ over G,

$$\mathcal{F}^G(x) := \int_G \mathcal{F}(A_\eta(x)) d_G(\eta), \qquad \forall x \in X.$$
(C.2)

It is clear that $\mathcal{F}^G \in C^{\infty}(X)^G$. Moreover, if \mathcal{F} is a constant of motion for the vector field V, then \mathcal{F}^G is also a constant of motion for V. Indeed, for any integral curve x(t)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathcal{F}^G(x(t)) = \int_G \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mathcal{F}(A_\eta(x(t))d_G(\eta) = 0,$$
(C.3)

since $A_{\eta}(x(t))$ is an integral curve for all η . In [23,53] this mechanism was used for arguing that, generically, degenerate integrability survives Hamiltonian reduction. In these papers, the starting point was a Hamiltonian action on a symplectic manifold, in which case the Hamiltonian vector fields of the *G*-invariant Hamiltonians are *G*-invariant.

The averaging of the constants of motion is applicable to the unreduced integrable systems of our interest if the relevant unreduced evolution vector fields are *G*-invariant. This obviously holds for the two degenerate integrable systems on T^*G considered in Sect. 2 and is also easily checked for the unreduced evolution vector fields on the quasi-Poisson double \mathfrak{D} studied in Sect. 4. We below answer the question whether this property holds for the Hamiltonian vector fields associated with the two sets of pullback invariants on the Heisenberg double \mathfrak{M} .

Proposition C.1. The derivatives of any $\phi \in C^{\infty}(B)^G$ satisfy the relations

$$D'\phi(Dress_{\eta}(b)) = \Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1} D'\phi(b)\Xi_R(\eta b),$$

$$D\phi(Dress_{\eta}(b)) = \eta D\phi(b)\eta^{-1}, \quad \forall \eta \in G, \ b \in B.$$
(C.4)

As a consequence, if (g(t), b(t)) is an integral curve of the Hamiltonian vector field of $\mathcal{H} = \pi_2^* \phi \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})^G$, then $\mathcal{A}_{\eta}(g(t), b(t))$ is also an integral curve (with the G-action defined in (3.31)).

Proof. The result will follow by taking the *t*-derivative of the identity

$$\phi(be^{tX}) = \phi(\text{Dress}_{\eta}(be^{tX})), \qquad \forall b \in B, X \in \mathcal{B}, t \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(C.5)

We see directly from the definitions that

$$Dress_{\eta}(be^{tX}) = Dress_{\eta}(b)Dress_{\Xi_{R}(\eta b)^{-1}}(e^{tX}), \qquad (C.6)$$

and therefore we get

$$\langle D'\phi(b), X \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle D'\phi(\mathrm{Dress}_{\eta}(b)), \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} \mathrm{Dress}_{\Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1}}(e^{tX}) \rangle_{\mathbb{I}}.$$
 (C.7)

Now, we have

$$\Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1} e^{tX} = \text{Dress}_{\Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1}}(e^{tX}) \Xi_R(\Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1} e^{tX})^{-1}, \qquad (C.8)$$

and, at t = 0,

$$\Xi_R(\Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1})^{-1} = \Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1}, \qquad \text{Dress}_{\Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1}}(\mathbf{1}_B) = \mathbf{1}_B.$$
(C.9)

Hence, taking the derivative at t = 0 gives

$$\left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \right|_{t=0} \mathrm{Dress}_{\Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1}}(e^{tX}) = \left(\Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1} X \Xi_R(\eta b) \right)_{\mathcal{B}}.$$
 (C.10)

So far we obtained

$$\langle D'\phi(b), X \rangle_{\mathbb{I}} = \langle D'\phi(\operatorname{Dress}_{\eta}(b)), \left(\Xi_{R}(\eta b)^{-1}X\Xi_{R}(\eta b)\right)_{\mathcal{B}}\rangle_{\mathbb{I}}$$

= $\langle \Xi_{R}(\eta b)D'\phi(\operatorname{Dress}_{\eta}(b))\Xi_{R}(\eta b)^{-1}, X\rangle_{\mathbb{I}},$ (C.11)

which is equivalent to the equivariance property of $D'\phi$ (C.4). Regarding $D\phi$, we have seen in Eq. (3.45) that for the *G*-invariant functions on *B*

$$D\phi(b) = bD'\phi(b)b^{-1}.$$
 (C.12)

By combining this with the transformation property of $D'\phi$, we get

$$D\phi(\operatorname{Dress}_{\eta}(b)) = \left(\operatorname{Dress}_{\eta}(b)\Xi_{R}(\eta b)^{-1}b^{-1}\right)D\phi(b)\left(\operatorname{Dress}_{\eta}(b)\Xi_{R}(\eta b)^{-1}b^{-1}\right)$$
$$= \eta D\phi(b)\eta^{-1}, \tag{C.13}$$

simply since $\operatorname{Dress}_{\eta}(b)\Xi_R(\eta b)^{-1}b^{-1} = \eta$.

Next, recall from Proposition 3.2 (Eq. (3.44)) that the integral curves of $\mathcal{H} = \pi_2^* \phi$ read

$$(g(t), b(t)) = (\exp(tD\phi(b(0)))g(0), b(0)).$$
(C.14)

Therefore,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\eta}(g(t), b(t)) = \left(\eta \exp\left(tD\phi(b(0))\right)g(0)\eta^{-1}, \mathrm{Dress}_{\eta}(b(0))\right) \\ = \left(\exp\left(t\eta D\phi(b(0))\eta^{-1}\right)\eta g(0)\eta^{-1}, \mathrm{Dress}_{\eta}(b(0))\right) \\ = \left(\exp\left(tD\phi(\mathrm{Dress}_{\eta}(b(0)))\right)\eta g(0)\eta^{-1}, \mathrm{Dress}_{\eta}(b(0))\right), \quad (C.15)$$

which is the integral curve through the initial value $\mathcal{A}_{\eta}(g(0), b(0))$.

We observe from Proposition C.1 that taking the *G*-average of an arbitrary constant of motion yields a *G*-invariant constant of motion for the degenerate integrable system on the Heisenberg double whose Hamiltonians arise from $C^{\infty}(B)^G$. However, as we shall see below, the Hamiltonian vector fields stemming from $C^{\infty}(G)^G$ do not have the relevant invariance property.

For any $h \in C^{\infty}(G)^{\hat{G}}$, the integral curves $(g(t), b(t)) \in \mathfrak{M}$ of the Hamiltonian $\mathcal{H} = \pi_1^* h \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})^G$ can be read off from Eq. (3.53) in Proposition 3.3. The identification $(g(t), b(t)) = (g_R(t), b_R(t))$ gives

$$(g(t), b(t)) = \left(\gamma(t)g(0)\gamma(t)^{-1}, \beta(t)^{-1}b(0)\right),$$
(C.16)

L. Fehér

where $(\gamma(t), \beta(t)) \in G \times B$ is defined by

$$\exp(it\nabla h(g(0))) = \beta(t)\gamma(t).$$
(C.17)

We are going to prove the following result.

Proposition C.2. Let (g(t), b(t)) be the integral curve (C.16) of the Hamiltonian vector field of the pullback invariant $\mathcal{H} = \pi_1^* h \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})^G$ associated with the initial value (g(0), b(0)). Then, the integral curve associated with the transformed initial value

$$\left(\eta g(0)\eta^{-1}, Dress_{\eta}(b(0))\right), \qquad \eta \in G,$$
 (C.18)

is given by

$$\mathcal{A}_{\Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}}\left(g(t), b(t)\right),\tag{C.19}$$

where $\beta(t)$ is the determined by the initial value g(0) via the factorization (C.17).

Proof. Denote by $\tilde{\beta}, \tilde{\gamma}$ the solution of the factorization (C.17) at the transformed initial value:

$$\exp(it\nabla h(\eta g(0)\eta^{-1})) = \hat{\beta}(t)\tilde{\gamma}(t).$$
(C.20)

Since ∇h is *G*-equivariant, we get

$$\tilde{\beta}(t) = \text{Dress}_{\eta}(\beta(t)) \text{ and } \tilde{\gamma}(t) = \Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}\gamma(t)\eta^{-1}.$$
 (C.21)

Therefore, the integral curve $(\tilde{g}(t), \tilde{b}(t))$ associated with the transformed initial value can be written as

$$\tilde{g}(t) = \tilde{\gamma}(t)\eta g(0)\eta^{-1}\tilde{\gamma}(t)^{-1} = \Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}g(t)\Xi_R(\eta\beta(t)).$$
 (C.22)

This proves half of our claim. To prove the other half, we inspect

$$\hat{b}(t) = (\mathrm{Dress}_{\eta}(\beta(t)))^{-1} \mathrm{Dress}_{\eta}(b(0)).$$
(C.23)

Now,

$$(Dress_{\eta}(\beta(t)))^{-1} = \Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}\beta(t)^{-1}\eta^{-1}.$$
 (C.24)

Consequently,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{b}(t) &= \Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}\beta(t)^{-1}\eta^{-1}\mathrm{Dress}_\eta(b(0)) \\ &= \Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}b(t)b(0)^{-1}\eta^{-1}\mathrm{Dress}_\eta(b(0)) \\ &= \left(\mathrm{Dress}_{\Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}}(b(t))\right)\Xi_R(\Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}b(t))^{-1}b(0)^{-1}\eta^{-1}\mathrm{Dress}_\eta(b(0)). \end{split}$$
(C.25)

Furthermore,

$$\Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}b(t) = (\mathrm{Dress}_\eta\beta(t))^{-1}\eta\beta(t)b(t)$$

= (Dress_\eta\beta(t))^{-1}\etab(0) (C.26)
= (Dress_\eta\beta(t))^{-1}(\mathrm{Dress}_\eta b(0))\Xi_R(\eta b(0))^{-1},

and hence

$$\Xi_R(\Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}b(t))^{-1} = \Xi_R(\eta b(0))^{-1}.$$
 (C.27)

Plugging this back into the last line of (C.25) gives

$$\hat{b}(t) = \left(\text{Dress}_{\Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}}(b(t)) \right) \Xi_R(\eta b(0))^{-1} (\eta b(0))^{-1} \text{Dress}_{\eta}(b(0))
= \text{Dress}_{\Xi_R(\eta\beta(t))^{-1}}(b(t)),$$
(C.28)

which finishes the proof.

Remark C.3. Proposition C.2 shows that \mathcal{A}_{η} (3.31) does not map the pertinent integral curves (C.16) onto integral curves. At the same time, it confirms that changing the initial value by the *G*-action does not effect the projection of the integral curve to the quotient space \mathfrak{M}/G . This is equivalent to the fact that the Hamiltonian vector field *V* of $\mathcal{H} = \pi_1^* h$, for $h \in C^{\infty}(G)^G$, satisfies

$$(\mathcal{A}_n)_* V = V + Z,\tag{C.29}$$

where the vector field Z is tangent to the G-orbits. One could find Z explicitly, if desired.

References

- Alekseev, A., Kosmann-Schwarzbach, Y., Meinrenken, E.: Quasi-Poisson manifolds. Can. J. Math. 54, 3–29 (2002). arXiv:math/0006168
- [2] Alekseev, A.Yu., Malkin, A.Z.: Symplectic structures associated to Lie-Poisson groups. Commun. Math. Phys. 162, 147–173 (1994). arXiv:hep-th/9303038
- [3] Alekseev, A., Malkin, A., Meinrenken, E.: Lie group valued moment maps. J. Differ. Geom. 48, 445–495 (1988). arXiv:dg-ga/9707021
- [4] Arthamonov, S., Reshetikhin, N.: Superintegrable systems on moduli spaces of flat connections. Commun. Math. Phys. 386, 1337–1381 (2021). arXiv:1909.08682 [math-ph]
- [5] Arutyunov, G.: Elements of Classical and Quantum Integrable Systems. Springer, Berlin (2019)
- [6] Arutyunov, G., Olivucci, E.: Hyperbolic spin Ruijsenaars–Schneider model from Poisson reduction. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 309, 31–45 (2020). arXiv:1906.02619
- [7] Calogero, F.: Solution of the one-dimensional N-body problem with quadratic and/or inversely quadratic pair potentials. J. Math. Phys. 12, 419–436 (1971)
- [8] Chalykh, O., Fairon, M.: On the Hamiltonian formulation of the trigonometric spin Ruijsenaars–Schneider system. Lett. Math. Phys. 110, 2893–2940 (2020). arXiv:1811.08727
- [9] Duistermaat, J.J., Kolk, J.A.C.: Lie Groups. Springer, Berlin (2000)
- [10] Etingof, P., Varchenko, A.: Geometry and classification of solutions of the classical dynamical Yang–Baxter equation. Commun. Math. Phys. 192, 77–120 (1998). arXiv:q-alg/9703040
- [11] Fairon, M., Fehér, L., Marshall, I.: Trigonometric real form of the spin RS model of Krichever and Zabrodin. Ann. Henri Poincaré 22, 615–675 (2021). arXiv:2007.08388
- [12] Fehér, L.: Poisson–Lie analogues of spin Sutherland models. Nucl. Phys. B 949, 114807 (2019). arXiv:1809.01529

- [13] Fehér, L.: Reduction of a bi-Hamiltonian hierarchy on $T^*U(n)$ to spin Ruijsenaars–Sutherland models. Lett. Math. Phys. **110**, 1057–1079 (2020). arXiv:1908.02467
- [14] Fehér, L., Ayadi, V.: Trigonometric Sutherland systems and their Ruijsenaars duals from symplectic reduction. J. Math. Phys. 51, 103511 (2010). arXiv:1005.4531
- [15] Fehér, L., Klimčík, C.: Poisson-Lie interpretation of trigonometric Ruijsenaars duality. Commun. Math. Phys. 301, 55–104 (2011). arXiv:0906.4198
- [16] Fehér, L., Klimčík, C.: Self-duality of the compactified Ruijsenaars–Schneider system from quasi-Hamiltonian reduction. Nucl. Phys. B 860, 464–515 (2012). arXiv:1101.1759
- [17] Fehér, L., Klimčík, C.: The Ruijsenaars self-duality map as a mapping class symplectomorphism. In: Dobrev, V. (ed.) Lie Theory and Its Applications in Physics, IX International Workshop, pp. 423–437. Springer (2013). arXiv:1203.3300
- [18] Fehér, L., Kluck, T.J.: New compact forms of the trigonometric Ruijsenaars– Schneider system. Nucl. Phys. B 882, 97–127 (2014). arXiv:1312.0400
- [19] Fehér, L., Pusztai, B.G.: Spin Calogero models obtained from dynamical r-matrices and geodesic motion. Nucl. Phys. B 734, 304–325 (2006). arXiv:math-ph/0507062
- [20] Fehér, L., Pusztai, B.G.: Twisted spin Sutherland models from quantum Hamiltonian reduction. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 41, 194009 (2008). arXiv:0711.4015
- [21] Fock, V., Gorsky, A., Nekrasov, N., Rubtsov, V.: Duality in integrable systems and gauge theories. JHEP 07, 028 (2000). arXiv:hep-th/9906235
- [22] Gibbons, J., Hermsen, T.: A generalisation of the Calogero–Moser system. Physica D 11, 337–348 (1984)
- [23] Jovanovic, B.: Symmetries and integrability. Publ. Inst. Math. 49, 1–36 (2008). arXiv:0812.4398
- [24] Kazhdan, D., Kostant, B., Sternberg, S.: Hamiltonian group actions and dynamical systems of Calogero type. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. XXXI, 481–507 (1978)
- [25] Klimčík, C.: On moment maps associated to a twisted Heisenberg double. Rev. Math. Phys. 18, 781–821 (2006). arXiv:math-ph/0602048
- [26] Knapp, A.W.: Lie Groups Beyond an Introduction. Birkhäuser, Basel (1996)
- [27] Korogodski, L.I., Soibelman, Y.S.: Algebras of Functions on Quantum Groups: Part I. American Mathematical Society, New York (1998)
- [28] Krichever, I., Zabrodin, A.: Spin generalization of the Ruijsenaars–Schneider model, non-abelian 2D Toda chain and representations of Sklyanin algebra. Russ. Math. Surv. 50, 1101–1150 (1995). arXiv:hep-th/9505039
- [29] Laurent-Gengoux, C., Miranda, E., Vanhaecke, P.: Action-angle coordinates for integrable systems on Poisson manifolds. Int. Math. Res. Not 1, 1839–1869 (2011). arXiv:0805.1679 [math.SG]
- [30] Li, L.-C., Xu, P.: A class of integrable spin Calogero–Moser systems. Commun. Math. Phys. 231, 257–286 (2002). arXiv:math/0105162
- [31] Lu, J.-H.: Momentum mappings and reduction of Poisson actions. In: Symplectic Geometry, Groupoids, and Integrable Systems, pp. 209–226. Springer (1991)

- [32] Michor, P.W.: Topics in Differential Geometry. American Mathematical Society, New York (2008)
- [33] Mischenko, A.S., Fomenko, A.T.: Generalized Liouville method for integrating Hamiltonian systems. Funct. Anal. Appl. 12, 113–125 (1978)
- [34] Moser, J.: Three integrable Hamiltonian systems connected with isospectral deformations. Adv. Math. 16, 197–220 (1975)
- [35] Nekhoroshev, N.N.: Action-angle variables and their generalizations. Trans. Moscow Math. Soc. 26, 180–197 (1972)
- [36] Nekrasov, N.: Infinite-dimensional algebras, many-body systems and gauge theories. In: Moscow Seminar in Mathematical Physics, AMS Translational Series 2, vol. 191, pp. 263–299. American Mathematical Society (1999)
- [37] Olshanetsky, M.A., Perelomov, A.M.: Classical integrable finite-dimensional systems related to Lie algebras. Phys. Rep. 71, 313–400 (1981)
- [38] Ortega, J.-P., Ratiu, T.: Momentum Maps and Hamiltonian Reduction. Birkhäuser, Basel (2004)
- [39] Palais, R.S., Terng, C.L.: A general theory of canonical forms. Trans. AMS 300, 771–789 (1987)
- [40] Polychronakos, A.P.: Physics and mathematics of Calogero particles. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 39, 12793–12845 (2006). arXiv:hep-th/0607033
- [41] Reshetikhin, N.: Degenerate integrability of spin Calogero–Moser systems and the duality with the spin Ruijsenaars systems. Lett. Math. Phys. 63, 55–71 (2003). arXiv:math/0202245
- [42] Reshetikhin, N.: Degenerately integrable systems. J. Math. Sci. 213, 769–785 (2016). arXiv:1509.00730
- [43] Rudolph, G., Schmidt, M.: Differential Geometry and Mathematical Physics. Part I. Manifolds, Lie Groups and Hamiltonian Systems. Springer, Berlin (2013)
- [44] Ruijsenaars, S.N.M.: Systems of Calogero–Moser type. In: Proceedings of the 1994 CRM-Banff Summer School: Particles and Fields, pp. 251–352. Springer (1999)
- [45] Ruijsenaars, S.N.M., Schneider, H.: A new class of integrable systems and its relation to solitons. Ann. Phys. 170, 370–405 (1986)
- [46] Samelson, H.: Notes on Lie Algebras, Third Corrected Edition. Springer, Berlin (1990)
- [47] Schwarz, G.W.: Smooth functions invariant under the action of a compact Lie group. Topology 14, 63–68 (1975)
- [48] Semenov-Tian-Shansky, M.A.: Dressing transformations and Poisson group actions. Publ. RIMS 21, 1237–1260 (1985)
- [49] Semenov-Tian-Shansky, M.A.: Integrable systems: an r-matrix approach, Kyoto preprint, 2008, RIMS-1650
- [50] Sjamaar, R., Lerman, E.: Stratified symplectic spaces and reduction. Ann. Math. 134, 375–422 (1991)
- [51] Sniatycki, J.: Differential Geometry of Singular Spaces and Reduction of Symmetries. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2013)
- [52] Sutherland, B.: Exact results for a quantum many-body problem in one dimension. Phys. Rev. A 4, 2019–2021 (1971)

[53] Zung, N.T.: Torus actions and integrable systems. In: Topological Methods in the Theory of Integrable Systems, pp. 289–328 (2006) arXiv:math/0407455

L. Fehér Department of Theoretical Physics University of Szeged Tisza Lajos krt 84-86 Szeged 6720 Hungary

and

Institute for Particle and Nuclear Physics Wigner Research Centre for Physics P.O.B. 49, Budapest 1525 Hungary e-mail: lfeher@physx.u-szeged.hu

Communicated by Nikolai Kitanine. Received: August 7, 2022. Accepted: December 9, 2022.